
 
 

 
 

TENANTS' AND LEASEHOLDERS' 
CONSULTATIVE FORUM  

 

MONDAY 29 OCTOBER 2007 
7.30 PM  

 
FORUM AGENDA (CONSULTATIVE) 

 
COMMITTEE ROOMS 1 & 2,  
HARROW CIVIC CENTRE 

 
 

 
  MEMBERSHIP    (Quorum 3 Council Members)  
 
    
 
  Chairman: 

 
Councillor Mrs Camilla Bath 

 
Councillors: 

 
Don Billson 
 

Bob Currie (VC) 
Phillip O'Dell 
 

  
 

 
Representatives of Individual Housing Estate Tenants’ and Residents’ Associations 
 
 

 
Reserve Members: 

 
1. Tom Weiss 
2. Robert Benson 
3. Mrs Kinnear 
 

1. David Gawn 
2. B E Gate 
3. - 
 

  
 

 
Issued by the Democratic Services Section, 
Legal and Governance Services Department  

 
Contact:  Paul Tenconi, Democratic Services Officer 
Tel:  020 8424 1264    E-mail:  paul.tenconi@harrow.gov.uk 

 
NOTE FOR THOSE ATTENDING THE MEETING: 

IF YOU WISH TO DISPOSE OF THIS AGENDA, PLEASE LEAVE IT BEHIND AFTER THE MEETING. 
 IT WILL BE COLLECTED FOR RECYCLING. 



 

 

 
  HARROW COUNCIL 

 
TENANTS' AND LEASEHOLDERS' CONSULTATIVE FORUM  
 
MONDAY 29 OCTOBER 2007 
 

 
 

  AGENDA - PART I   
 

1. Attendance by Reserve Members:    
 To note the attendance at this meeting of any duly appointed Reserve 

Members. 
 
Reserve Members may attend meetings:- 
 
(i) to take the place of an ordinary Member for whom they are a reserve; 
(ii) where the ordinary Member will be absent for the whole of the 

meeting; and  
(iii) the meeting notes at the start of the meeting at the item ‘Reserves’ that 

the Reserve Member is or will be attending as a reserve; 
(iv) if a Reserve Member whose intention to attend has been noted arrives 

after the commencement of the meeting, then that Reserve Member 
can only act as a Member from the start of the next item of business 
on the agenda after his/her arrival. 

 
2. Declarations of Interest:    
 To receive declarations of personal or prejudicial interests, arising from 

business to be transacted at this meeting, from: 
 
(a) all Members of the Committee, Sub Committee, Panel or Forum; 
(b) all other Members present in any part of the room or chamber. 
 

3. Arrangement of Agenda:    
 To consider whether any of the items listed on the agenda should be 

considered with the press and public excluded on the grounds that it is 
thought likely, in view of the nature of the business to be transacted, that 
there would be disclosure of confidential information in breach of an 
obligation of confidence or of exempt information as defined in Part 1 of 
Schedule 12A to the Local Government Act 1972. 
 

4. Minutes:  (Pages 1 - 4) Enc. 
 That the minutes of the meeting held on the 24 July 2007 be taken as read 

and signed as a correct record.  
 

5. Public Questions:    
 To receive questions (if any) from local residents or organisations under the 

provisions of Advisory Panel and Consultative Forum Procedure Rule 16 
(Part 4E of the Constitution). 
 



 

 

6. Petitions:    
 To receive petitions (if any) submitted by members of the public/Councillors 

under the provisions of Advisory Panel and Consultative Forum Procedure 
Rule 14 (Part 4E of the Constitution). 
 

7. Deputations:    
 To receive deputations (if any) under the provisions of Advisory Panel and 

Consultative Forum Procedure Rule 15 (Part 4E of the Constitution). 
 

8. Quarter 1 Housing Revenue Account (HRA) Monitoring Report as at 30 
June 2007:  (Pages 5 - 8) 

Enc. 

 Report of the Corporate Finance Director. 
 

9. Progress report on the work of the Independent Tenant Advisor and 
presentation of their report:  (Pages 9 - 68) 

Enc. 

 Report of Divisional Director Adult and Housing Services. 
 

10. Progress on the Community Centre Review:  (Pages 69 - 72) Enc. 
 Report of Divisional Director Adult and Housing. 

 
11. London Councils – Housing Green Paper:  (Pages 73 - 76) Enc. 
 Report of the Divisional Director Adults and Housing Services. 

 
12. The Draft Mayor’s Housing Strategy:  (Pages 77 - 94) Enc. 
 Report of the Divisional Director Adults and Housing Services. 

 
13. Suggestions for agenda items for next meeting:    
 Suggestions for agenda items for next meeting. 

 
FOR DECISION 
 

14. Any Other Urgent Business:    
 Which cannot otherwise be dealt with. 

 
15. Date of Next Meeting:    
 To note that the next meeting of the Forum will be held on the 9 January 

2008.  
 

  AGENDA - PART II - NIL   
 



This page is intentionally left blank



 ADVISORY AND CONSULTATIVE VOL. 3  ACTLCF 20   

TENANTS' AND LEASEHOLDERS' 
CONSULTATIVE FORUM  

24 JULY 2007 

Chairman: * Councillor Mrs Camilla Bath 
   
Councillors: * Don Billson 

* Bob Currie 
* David Gawn (1) 

* Denotes Member present 
(1) Denotes category of Reserve Member 

Tenants' and Leaseholders' RepresentativesTenants' and Leaseholders' Representatives

Representatives from the following Associations were in attendance: 

Antoney’s Close Tenants’ and Residents’ Association 
Berridge Estate Tenants’ and Residents’ Association 
Brookside Close Tenants’ and Residents’ Association 
Cottesmore Tenants’ and Residents’ Association 
Eastcote Lane Tenants’ and Residents’ Association 
Harrow Federation of Tenants’ and Residents’ Associations (HFTRA) 
Weald Village Community Association 
Woodlands Community Association 

In total 16 Tenants/Representatives attended.  

PART I - RECOMMENDATIONS - NIL 

PART II - MINUTES 

72. Attendance by Reserve Members:   

RESOLVED:  To note the attendance at this meeting of the following duly appointed 
Reserve Member:- 

Ordinary Member Reserve Member

Councillor Phillip O’Dell Councillor David Gawn 

73. Declarations of Interest:

RESOLVED:  To note that the following interest was declared: 

(i) Councillor Bob Currie declared a personal interest in that he regularly attended 
meetings of Brookside Close Tenants’ and Residents’ Association and 
Eastcote Lane Tenants’ and Residents’ Association.  Accordingly, he would 
remain in the room during the discussion and decision-making for all items. 

74. Arrangement of Agenda:   

RESOLVED:  That (1) in accordance with the Local Government (Access to 
Information) Act 1985, the following item be admitted late to the agenda by virtue of the 
special circumstances and grounds for urgency detailed below:- 

Agenda item Special Circumstances / Grounds for Urgency

16. Housing Strategy and 
Housing Revenue Account 
(HRA) Business Plan 

This verbal report of the Head of Housing gave 
the Forum an update on the Housing Strategy 
and Housing Revenue Account (HRA) 
Business Plan, which was submitted to Cabinet 
on 19 July 2007.  The verbal report was 
accepted as it was considered a matter arising 
from the Special Meeting of the Forum held on 
the 31 May 2007.  The Forum agreed by a 
majority vote to consider the verbal report.  

(2)  all items be considered with the press and public present; 

Agenda Item 4
Pages 1 to 4

1



ACTLCF 21  VOL. 3   ADVISORY AND CONSULTATIVE

(3)  the late item Housing Strategy and Housing Revenue Account (HRA) Business 
Plan be considered before agenda item 8 – Housing Revenue Account (HRA) Outturn 
2006-07; 

(4) agenda item 12 – Tenants’ Satisfaction Survey be considered before agenda item 
11 – Housing Performance 2006/07 and Plans for 2007/08. 

75. Minutes:

RESOLVED:  That (1) the minutes of the meetings held on 24 January 2007 and 
26 March 2007 be taken as read and signed as correct records; 

(2)  the minutes of the Special meeting held on the 31 May 2007 be deferred until 
printed in the Council Bound Minute Volume. 

76. Public Questions:

RESOLVED:  To note that no public questions were received at this meeting under the 
provisions of Advisory Panel and Consultative Forum Procedure Rule 16 (Part 4E of 
the Constitution). 

77. Petitions:
In accordance with Advisory Panel and Consultative Forum Procedure Rule 14 
(Part 4E of the Constitution), the Forum received a petition from Eastcote Lane and 
Brookside Close Tenants’ and Residents’ Association relating to alleged anti-social 
behaviour on Eastcote Lane.  The petition contained 16 signatures. 

RESOLVED:  That the petition be noted and referred to the Head of Housing.

78. Deputations:

RESOLVED:  To note that no deputations were received at this meeting under the 
provisions of Advisory Panel and Consultative Forum Procedure Rule 15 (Part 4E of 
the Constitution). 

79. Housing Strategy and Housing Revenue Account (HRA) Business Plan:
The Head of Housing provided a verbal update on the Housing Strategy, which was 
submitted to Cabinet on 19 July 2007.  The Head of Housing explained that the 
Government Office for London (GOL) had been sent draft versions of the Strategy and 
had given positive feedback. Residents were thanked for their input into the Strategy.   

An officer gave a presentation on the Housing Revenue Account (HRA) Business Plan 
and distributed copies of the HRA Business Plan Action Plan at the meeting.  The 
officer asked residents for their feedback on the action plan before it was submitted to 
the GOL.  

One Member commented that he was concerned that the deadline for achieving Value 
for Money in Environmental Services was April 2009. 

RESOLVED:  That the above be noted. 

80. Housing Revenue Account (HRA) Outturn 2006-07:
An officer presented a report of the Corporate Director (Finance), which set out the 
provisional 2006-2007 Housing Revenue Account (HRA) Outturn.  It was advised that 
the cost to maintain estates had been just over £16 million and that this was close to 
what had been allocated in the original budget for 2006-07.  It was also advised that by 
the end of the financial year 2006/07, the HRA had been left with a total balance of 
over £5.7 million.  This money would be prioritised to maintain housing estates in 
Harrow to a high standard.  

The Forum was informed that the report was intended to give residents an insight into 
how their rent was spent.  A member of the Forum thanked the officer for the clarity of 
the presentation of the report.  

RESOLVED:  That the report be noted. 

81. Kier:
The Forum received a presentation from the Interim Head of Property about Kier, the 
company responsible for the repairs and maintenance of Harrow Council properties.  
The Forum was also introduced to representatives from Kier who were present at the 
meeting.  

2



 ADVISORY AND CONSULTATIVE VOL. 3  ACTLCF 22   

A representative from Kier explained that: 

 there were 26 directly employed craft operatives qualified in trades such as 
plumbing; 

 all operatives were required to carry ID cards; 

 residents could book repairs via a freephone number and emergency visits 
were available; 

 Health and Safety was an important aspect when delivering their services as 
robust procedures were in place;  

 there were two resident liaison officers: one officer for the Decent Homes 
Programme and one officer for repairs and maintenance;  

 details of the resident liaison officers would be sent to secretaries of all 
Tenants’ and Residents’ Associations; 

 customer satisfaction with Kier services would be monitored closely. 

One Member queried whether he could be assured that work would continue to be 
done through the summer months, at the time when schools were usually maintained.  
An officer confirmed that an external painting programme would be procured with other 
contracts in order to ensure this.  Another Member of the Forum asked officers to 
ensure that Kier literature was accessible to those with learning disabilities.  

RESOLVED:  That the above be noted. 

82. Garages:
An officer presented an information report of the Corporate Director (Adults and 
Housing), which set out the position on garages following changes to the repairs 
service and rent increases as at June 2007.  

A resident queried whether the Housing Service planned to build housing in areas 
where garages were to be knocked down.  One resident commented that she had had 
to give up her garage as she could not afford the cost and she had had to pay VAT.  
The Head of Housing explained that this was due to the fact that legislatively, the 
Housing Service were required to charge VAT to those who were not Council tenants.  

RESOLVED:  That the report be noted. 

83. Tenants’ Satisfaction Survey:
An officer introduced a report of the Corporate Director (Adults and Housing) which 
provided information on the findings from the Tenants’ Satisfaction Survey conducted 
by Ipsos MORI in 2006.  

The officer explained that the survey provided useful information on tenants’ priorities.  
It had been discovered through the survey that the main priorities were the repairs 
service and the overall quality of the home.  The quality of the caretaking service had 
also been assessed by the survey.  

In response to a question from a resident, it was confirmed that the Government 
required the Housing Service to send the survey out to 1,500 tenants, and that the 
Housing Service had in fact sent it to 2,100 tenants. 

RESOLVED:  That the report be noted. 

84. Housing Performance 2006-07 and Plans for 2007-08:
The Forum received a report of the Corporate Director (Adults and Housing), which 
provided information on how key housing services were delivered in 2006/07 in the 
form of a newsletter.  The report also highlighted initiatives and targets which the 
Housing Service proposed to deliver in 2007/08. 

The Head of Housing explained that during 2006/07, the Housing Service had collected 
97% of rent due to it, making Harrow one of the highest performing councils in London 
for rent collection.  Residents were encouraged to talk to the Housing Service to 
resolve any problems they had regarding the payment of rent.  During the year 
2006/07, the Housing Service had received a positive response from residents 
regarding the Housing Service’s publication ‘Homing in’.  

3



ACTLCF 23  VOL. 3   ADVISORY AND CONSULTATIVE

In response to a question by a resident, an officer confirmed that no more alterations to 
the tenancy agreement were planned.   

RESOLVED:  That the report be noted. 

85. Housing Capital Programme 2007-2010:
The Forum considered a report of the Corporate Director (Adults and Housing), which 
provided an update on the Housing Capital Programme 2007-2010 in response to 
comments made at the Tenants’ and Leaseholders’ Forum on 26 March 2007.  

In response to concerns raised by a Member, it was agreed that officers meet 
Members outside of the Forum to discuss further amendments to the Housing Capital 
Programme 2007-2010. 

RESOLVED:  That the report be noted. 

86. Date of Next Meeting:

RESOLVED:  To note that the next meeting of the Forum would be held on 29 October 
2007. 

87. Extension and Termination of the Meeting:
In accordance with the Advisory and Consultative Procedure Rule 13 (Part 4E of the 
Constitution) it was: 

RESOLVED:  At (1) 10:00 pm to continue until 10.20 pm

(2) 10:18 pm to continue until 10.33 pm. 

(Note:  The meeting having commenced at 7.31 pm, closed at 10.28 pm) 

(Signed) COUNCILLOR CAMILLA BATH 
Chairman 

4



 
Meeting: 
 

Tenants’ and Leaseholders’ Consultative 
Forum  
 

Date: 
 

 29 October 2007 

Subject: 
 

Quarter 1 Housing Revenue Account (HRA) 
Monitoring Report as at 30 June 2007 

Key Decision: 
(Executive-side only) 

No 
 

Responsible Officer: 
 

Myfanwy Barrett 
Corporate Finance Director  

Portfolio Holder: 
 

Camilla Bath 
Portfolio Holder for Housing  

Exempt: 
 

No  
 

Enclosures: 
 

Appendix 1 – HRA Forecast Outturn as at 
30 June 2007  

 
SECTION 1 – SUMMARY AND RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
 
This report sets out monitoring of the Housing Revenue Account 
(HRA) as at 30 June 2007. 
 
RECOMMENDATIONS:  
 
To note the HRA position at the end of the first quarter for 2007-08.  

 
REASON:   
 
To monitor effectively the HRA budgets. 
 
 
 
 

Agenda Item 8
Pages 5 to 8

5



 2 

SECTION 2 
Current Position 
 
1. The report attached at Appendix 1 reflects the anticipated year end 

position for the HRA as at the end of June 2007, and will be 
reported to Cabinet on Thursday 11th October.   

 
2. The HRA balance brought forward from 2006-07 totalled 

£5,726,483. 
 
3. The quarter 1 position projects a shortfall in the budgeted in year 

surplus of £95k, and comprises both income and expenditure 
variations which are detailed below.   

 
4. Expenditure - increased expenditure of £604,000.  This reflects in 

the main increased energy costs, increased costs of borrowing 
[which may change following a corporate debt rescheduling 
exercise], legal fees and pressures in relation to repairs. 

 
5. The increases in the repairs budget reflect the unexpected costs of 

terminating transport contract hire costs, together with increases in 
day to day maintenance expenditure.  It is expected that the new 
KIER partnership [which commenced at the beginning of July], 
together with closer budget monitoring of the commitments and 
accruals will minimise the continued risk of overspend on repairs.  

 
6. Further expenditure assumptions made in this report are: 

• that the contingency provision of £200k will be fully utilised in 
connection with DLO staff. 

• that the HRA expects to make a contribution of £1m to support 
the capital expenditure incurred in relation to the Decent Homes 
works. 

• that the bad debt provision of £100k will be required.  
 
7. Income – increased income of £509,000.  The variations on dwelling 

rental income of -£174k and service charges of £77k should be 
consolidated as the budgets stated are not accurately split.  The net 
additional income reflects in the main, the lower level of sales and 
voids when compared to the assumptions made in the approved 
budget.  Additional subsidy of £410k is anticipated in relation to the 
rent constraint allowance. 

 

6



 3 

8. Further income assumptions made in this report are that the 
leasehold service charges and facility charges are recovered in line 
with the budget.  

 
Financial Implications 
 
1. The financial implications are included within the current position 

detailed above. 
 
2. Based on the quarter 1 information detailed above, it is anticipated 

that there will be a balance of £5,850,020 to be carried forward into 
2008-09.  This deviates slightly from the business plan reflecting the 
lower in year surplus. 

   
3. Officers will continue to monitor this budget closely and take 

corrective action where necessary, to bring the position in line with 
the approved budget and business plan.  The quarter 2 position at 
the end of September should more accurately reflect the anticipated 
year end position given that this will reflect the half year position. 

 
4. The quarter 2 monitoring information will be reported to TLCF in 

January 2008 and will be used in setting the HRA budget for    
2008-09. 

 
SECTION 3 - STATUTORY OFFICER CLEARANCE 
 
 
 

  
on behalf of the 

Name:…Donna Edwards  Chief Financial Officer 
  
Date: ………………………….. 

  

 
 

  
on behalf of the 

Name: Helen White  Monitoring Officer 
 
Date:…………………………………..

  
 

 
SECTION 4 - CONTACT DETAILS AND BACKGROUND PAPERS 
Contact: Carol Maduka  

Senior Professional, Housing Finance  
020 8424 1672 

 
Background Papers:  30 year HRA Business Plan 
    HRA Medium Term Budget Strategy  

7



 4 

 
Appendix 1 

HOUSING REVENUE ACCOUNT (HRA) -  FORECAST OUTTURN 2007-08 

QUARTER 1 : APRIL TO JUNE 2007

Approved 
Budget   
2007-08    

Forecast 
Outturn  
2007-08

Variance 
£000

Variance 
(%)

Comments

Expenditure

Employee Costs 2,961,797 2,883,488 -78,309 -3%
Supplies & Services 1,599,270 1,753,937 154,667 10% Higher energy costs
Central Recharges 1,411,180 1,431,992 20,812 1% Higher Legal SSC budgets to be realigned

Employee Costs - Needs / 
Strategy

354,222 440,000 85,778 24% Higher contribution to Needs/Strategy 
costs budgets to be re-aligned

IT Projects 70,000 70,000 0 0%
Recharge to other services -502,528 -502,528 0 0%
Home Ownership Service 259,170 259,170 0 0%

Baseline expenditure 6,153,111 6,336,060 182,949 3%

Contingency -general 200,000 200,000 0 0% Oncost on DLO back pay not provided for 
in prior years

Operating Expenditure 6,353,111 6,536,060 182,949 3%

Charges for Capital 5,338,317 5,610,000 271,683 5% Higher borrowing costs to support decent 
homes

Contribution to Repairs 
Account

4,668,490 4,818,490 150,000 3% Costs of terminating DLO vehicle hire 
contract and higher expected void costs 

RCCO 1,000,000 1,000,000 0 0%
Bad or Doubtful Debts 100,000 100,000 0 0%
 
Total Expenditure 17,459,918 18,064,550 604,632 3%

Income
Rent Income – Dwellings -19,979,550 -20,153,452 -173,902 1% Budget split between Rent & Service 

charge to be realigned following depooling 

Rent Income – Non 
Dwellings

-911,868 -911,868 0 0%

Service Charges Tenants -1,118,646 -1,041,610 77,036 -7% Budget split between Rent & Service 
charge to be realigned following depooling 

Service Charges -255,488 -255,488 0 0%
Facility Charges -335,849 -335,849 0 0%
Interest -17,000 -19,000 -2,000 12%
Other Income -7,820 -7,820 0 0%
Transfer from General Fund -83,000 -83,000 0 0%
HRA Subsidy 5,030,240 4,620,000 -410,240 -8% Adjusted for Rent Constraint Allowance 

Total Income -17,678,981 -18,188,087 -509,106 

In Year Deficit / (Surplus) -219,063 -123,537 95,526

BALANCE -5,945,546 -5,850,020 

8



C:\moderngov\Data\AgendaItemDocs\1\6\7\AI00039761\ProgressreportonTAandpresentation0.doc 

  
Committee: 
 

Tenant and Leaseholders Consultative 
Forum  

Date: 
 

29 October 2007 

Subject: 
 

INFORMATION REPORT – Progress report 
on the work of the Independent Tenant 
Advisor and presentation of their report 

Responsible Officer:  
 

Gwyneth Allen – Divisional Director Adult 
and Housing Services 

Portfolio Holder:             
 

Cllr Camilla Bath – Portfolio Holder for 
Housing 

Exempt: 
 

No 

Enclosures: 
 

 

 
 

Section 1 – Summary 
 
 
In December 2006 First Call were appointed as Independent Tenant Advisor. 
This report outlines the work that has been undertaken by First Call and the 
further actions that are planned following the publication of the final report. 
 
This report also gives information on the Right to Manage consultation that is 
currently taking place. 
 
 
FOR INFORMATION 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Agenda Item 9
Pages 9 to 68

9



C:\moderngov\Data\AgendaItemDocs\1\6\7\AI00039761\ProgressreportonTAandpresentation0.doc 

Section 2 – Report 
2.1 Background 
     In October 2006 the Housing Service decided that it needed to undertake a 

fundamental review of its tenant consultation structures to ensure that tenant 
bodies are representative and fit for purpose, a decision was taken to 
commission the services of an Independent Tenant Advisor (ITA) to carryout 
in this work.  

 
2.2 The Housing Service wishes to work with tenants and leaseholders to 

strengthen the current engagement arrangements and ensure that tenants 
are given the opportunity to influence and improve service delivery. 

 
2.3 In 2006 a new Tenant Compact was signed and leaseholder involvement was 

achieved by setting up the leaseholder support group. 
 
2.4The ITA was selected by resident representatives, supported by officers, from 

a list of accredited companies experienced in resident empowerment. A brief 
was agreed by officers and resident representatives (see appendix 1). 
 

The duties of the ITA brief were as listed below: 
 
1. To review the current structure for resident empowerment (HFTRA, TRAs, 

REWG) and reporting to TLCF, including looking at the constitution and 
membership of individual TRAs, attendance at TLCF and the relationship 
between REWG and HFTRA. 

2. To review the funding of resident representatives/ groups, and the use of 
Council funds, to ensure probity and proper recording and reporting systems 
in line with the Council’s financial regulations.  

3. To develop a communications strategy to meet the needs of the resident 
engagement framework, including reviewing the current Tenant’s newsletter 
‘Homing In’ and the annual Resident’s Open Day event.  

4. To make recommendations where the current structures and methods of 
resident engagement need to change to meet the objectives listed above. 

In order to review the current structures and methods of resident engagement the 
ITA undertook the following tasks:  

5. Arranged and structured meetings of representative groups to discuss the 
review. Ensured that representatives from often-excluded groups are 
encouraged and enabled to participate. 

6. Agreed and organised a programme of training/ capacity building for resident 
representatives to support and equip them to participate in the review and 
ongoing resident engagement. 

10



C:\moderngov\Data\AgendaItemDocs\1\6\7\AI00039761\ProgressreportonTAandpresentation0.doc 

7. Represented residents, and supported resident representatives, in 
negotiations and discussions with officers of the Council’s Housing Services 
concerning the review.  

8. Published independent newsletters and information leaflets for residents, 
providing translations, large print or audio versions where necessary. 

9. Worked with resident representatives and Council officers during 2006/07 to 
prepare and carry out communication and events to promote resident 
engagement. 

10. Worked with tenants in setting local / aspirational standards for future 
housing, shaping service delivery, monitoring performance and 
communicating the outcomes to tenants and leaseholders. 

 
3.  Work of the Independent Tenant Advisor 
 

3.1 In December 2006 First Call was appointed Independent Tenants’ 
Advisor.  This appointment offered continuity following the work 
undertaken by First Call during the Housing Stock Options Appraisal 
concluded in January 2005 . 

 
3.2 First Call has stated that the overall plan for resident participation (as set 

out in the Tenant and Leaseholder Compact) is sensible and fit for 
purpose. Throughout the report, improvements have been suggested for, 
Tenant and Leaseholder Consultative Forum (TLCF), the Harrow 
Federation of Tenants and Residents Associations (HFTRA) and 
individual residents groups to ensure those groups become more 
effective. The recommendations should be seen as ways of improving 
the existing structures for participation.   

 
3.3 The attached report sets out First Call’s findings (see appendix 2). Key 

points and recommendations are summarised on pages 3 – 10 and 
discussed in the main report.  Attached to the report is a draft action plan 
(see appendix 3).  

 
3.4 A half-day workshop has been organised for the 2nd Nov, with TLCF and 

tenants who have expressed an interest, where a facilitated discussion of 
the report findings will take place and the action plan will be finalised. 
Work will then commence during December to support tenants to deliver 
actions contained in the plan. 

 
3.5 Following the half-day workshop regular reports on progress against the 

action plan will be provided to TLCF. 
 

 
4. Right to Manage 
 

11



C:\moderngov\Data\AgendaItemDocs\1\6\7\AI00039761\ProgressreportonTAandpresentation0.doc 

4.1 Cabinet agreed on the 23 June 2005, following conclusion of the Housing 
Stock Options Appraisal to investigate, the potential for establishing a 
Tenants’ Management Board (TMB), supported by an Independent Tenants’ 
Advisor Service and other resources as necessary.  

 
4.2 First Call secured funding from the Housing Corporation to undertake this 

work during March 2007.    
 
4.3 During the summer of 2007 First Call has been working with tenants and 

leaseholders to gauge the level of interest in a Tenant Management 
Organisation (TMO) manage the council’s housing stock. 

 
4.4 To date, residents who have responded to the survey have supported more 

investigation into the setting up of a TMO.  The next stage of the process is to 
form a Residents Steering Group to explore the options in more detail.  A 
briefing session has been organised for the 8th Oct 2007 when Fist Call will 
explain the Right To Manage legislation, outline the role of the Residents’ 
Steering Group and the next steps to take to develop Tenant Management.  
HFTRA will be represented at the panel to ensure that they are kept informed 
at all stages of the process.   

  
 
 
Section 3 – Further Information 
 
 
Section 4 - Contact Details and Background Papers 
 
 
Contact:  Carol Yarde – Service Development Manager, Housing 
Services 
 
 
Background Papers:   
 

12



C:\moderngov\Data\AgendaItemDocs\1\6\7\AI00039761\ProgressReportTAAppendix10.doc 

Appendix 1  

 

Proposal to appoint an Independent Tenant Adviser 
 
Introduction & background 
 
The Council is keen to work with residents to strengthen the current resident engagement 
arrangements and ensure they contribute to improving service delivery. In 2006 the 
Council is reviewing its Resident Compact and Tenancy Agreement. It also proposes to 
develop leaseholder involvement e.g. by setting up a leaseholder forum. 

A substantial piece of work was carried out on resident empowerment as part of the 
Options Appraisal in 2005 with the result that Cabinet (23 June 05) approved, among 
other things, the establishment of a process, as set out in the Residents Charter, to 
establish a Tenants’ Management Board, supported by an Independent Tenants’ Advisor 
Service and other resources as necessary.  

The Council recognises and commends the significant efforts made by the REWG, since 
then, in developing a proposal for a Tenant Management Board (TMB).  

The Council wishes to build on this and sees the appointment of an ITA as an essential 
first step in ensuring the necessary infrastructure and capacity are in place before 
progressing to a TMB.   

There are currently a range of representative groups (HFTRA, TRAs, REWG) and 
consultative frameworks, culminating in reports to TLCF (Tenants & Lessees Consultative 
Forum). Communication is mainly by means of a quarterly residents newsletter ‘Homing 
In’. 

There is an opportunity to review and streamline consultative arrangements, to ensure 
they are fit for purpose and make best use of the time and resources devoted to resident 
engagement.  

There is also a need to continue the work carried out during the Options Appraisal to 
ensure that resident representatives/ groups are truly representative of the wider tenant 
and leaseholder community and to ensure that all resident representatives and 
representative groups are supported and given opportunities to engage in housing 
service developments. 

 

 

Proposal 
 

13



C:\moderngov\Data\AgendaItemDocs\1\6\7\AI00039761\ProgressReportTAAppendix10.doc 

It is proposed to appoint an Independent Tenant Adviser (ITA) to work with resident 
representatives and the Council to review and strengthen current resident engagement 
arrangements and ensure they contribute to improving service delivery. 

The ITA will be selected by resident representatives, supported by officers, from a list of 
companies experienced in resident empowerment. They are expected to work to a brief 
and specification previously agreed by the Council with resident representatives (see 
attached). 

Resident Representatives 
 
REWG has nominated two representatives to participate on a Panel that will undertake 
the selection of the ITA and, following that to participate in a steering group to oversee 
the work of the ITA and make recommendations to TLCF & Cabinet.  They are Lee 
Choules & John Pollard. 

HFTRA, as the resident representative body of the Council, has been asked to nominate 
2 representatives to the selection/ steering group.  

The resident representatives nominated by REWG and HFTRA should aim to reflect the 
diversity of the Council’s tenant and leaseholder community in terms of gender, ethnicity, 
age and disability. 

 BRIEF AND SPECIFICATION 

 

Objectives 
Harrow’s Resident Empowerment Strategy and Residents Compact reflect the Council’s 
aims to ensure that tenants are at the heart of all decisions concerning their homes.  
The Council wishes to appoint an Independent Tenant Adviser (ITA), to work with 
resident representatives and the Council, to review and strengthen current resident 
engagement arrangements and ensure they are: 
 

• Representative of the council’s tenants and lessees    
• Properly constituted and demonstrate probity  
• Effective in enabling residents to contribute to shaping and improving service 

delivery 
 

The Council also wishes the ITA to explore with residents the option of Right to Manage 
to establish the feasibility and scope for this and, if appropriate, a timescale for 
achievement. 
 

Duties 
The duties of the ITA will include the following tasks: 
 
To review the current structure for resident empowerment (HFTRA, TRAs, REWG) and 
reporting to TLCF against the objectives set out above, including looking at the 
constitution and membership of individual TRAs, attendance at TLCF and the relationship 
between REWG and HFTRA. 

14



C:\moderngov\Data\AgendaItemDocs\1\6\7\AI00039761\ProgressReportTAAppendix10.doc 

To review the funding of resident representatives/ groups, and the use of Council funds, 
to ensure probity and proper recording and reporting systems in line with the Council’s 
financial regulations.  

To develop a communications strategy to meet the needs of the resident engagement 
framework, including reviewing the current Tenant’s newsletter ‘Homing In’ and the 
annual Resident’s Open Day event  

To make recommendations where the current structures and methods of resident 
engagement need to change to meet the objectives listed above. 

To carry out a detailed examination of the Right to Manage option, with residents, and 
make recommendations as to the feasibility and scope for this and, if appropriate, a 
timescale for achievement. 

In order to review the current structures and methods of resident engagement it is 
envisaged the ITA will:  

Arrange and structure meetings of representative groups to discuss the Review. Ensure 
that representatives from often-excluded groups are encouraged and enabled to 
participate. 

To review the terms of reference for and to confirm the need of the Housing 
Improvements Options Appraisal Panel.  (Housing service issues are reported to the 
Sustainable Development and Enterprise Sub Committee)  

Agree and organise a programme of training/ capacity building for resident 
representatives to support and equip them to participate in the Review and ongoing 
resident engagement. 

Represent residents, and support resident representatives, in negotiations and 
discussions with officers of the Council’s Housing Services concerning the Review.  

Publish their own independent newsletters and information leaflets for residents if 
appropriate, providing translations, large print or audio versions where necessary. 

Work with resident representatives and Council officers during 2006/07 to prepare and 
carry out communications and events to promote resident engagement 

Work with tenants in setting local / aspirational standards for their future housing, shaping 
service delivery, monitoring performance and communicating the outcomes to tenants 
and leaseholders 

Service meetings as required. 

The Independent Tenant Advisor is expected to provide comprehensive independent 
advice to residents at all times.  
 

15



16

This page is intentionally left blank



1 

Appendix 2 

RESIDENT 
INVOLVEMENT   

IN HARROW 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

A REPORT FOR HARROW RESIDENTS,     
COUNCILLORS AND STAFF 

 
August 2007 

17



2 

CONTENTS  
Summary and Recommendations 

Introduction 

1. Harrow Federation of Tenants and Residents Associations 

(a) Greater involvement 

(b) Involving freeholders 

(c) Incorporating Neighbourhood Representatives 

(d) Extending diversity 

(e) Supporting Tenant and Resident Associations 

(f) Finances 

(g) Limited company status 

2. Tenant and Leaseholder Consultative Forum 

3. Residents’ Empowerment Working Group 

4. Tenant & Resident Associations and other representatives 

(a) Gaps in coverage 

(b) Low levels of involvement 

(c) Developing new officers 

(d) Increasing diversity 

5. Housing staff 

6. Funding issues and opportunities 

7. Communication 

8. Options for the future 

 

3 

10 

11 

14 

15 

17 

19 

21 

23 

25 

27 

30 

31 

33 

34 

36 

37 

39 

41 

45 

47

 

 

18



3 

SUMMARY AND RECOMENDATIONS 
This report has grown out of FIRST Call’s work with tenants and 
leaseholders, other residents, Council staff and elected members in 
Harrow over the last six months. The key points (with our 
recommendations in italics) are set out below. 
 
1. Harrow Federation of Tenant and Resident Associations 
HFTRA needs to develop a culture where all members are fully 
involved in the development of policy and procedure. We see the 
revived Management Committee as an essential part of this work. 
We recommend:    
• The Management Committee must meet frequently (at least six 

times a year). 
• Committee members should receive specific training for their new 

role as soon as possible.  
• HFTRA officers should also be required to undertake training 

relevant to their work for the Federation. 
HFTRA should ensure that all Tenant and Resident Associations 
(TRAs) that belong to the Federation meet the Tenant and 
Leaseholder Compact requirements, and the Federation should 
intervene to support struggling associations.  
 We think it is reasonable to adopt requirements similar to the 
following for new and existing TRAs: 
• At least one of the key officers (Chair, Vice-Chair, Secretary and 

Treasurer) must be a council tenant. 
• All TRA general and committee meetings should have a specific 

agenda item to discuss housing management issues that concern 
tenants and leaseholders. 

• All member TRAs should send a copy of their Constitution, any 
Standing Orders and supporting papers to the HFTRA office. 

• TRAs should also send Minutes of all their General and Committee 
meetings and their annual accounts to HFTRA.  

The Neighbourhood Representative option (elected representatives 

19



4 

for areas without a TRA) still has to be developed in Harrow. The 
Federation needs to consider how to incorporate them fully.    
Our recommendations for neighbourhood representatives are: 
• A joint Council-HFTRA induction and training programme. 
• HFTRA and Council to actively promote Neighbourhood Reps. 
• Neighbourhood representatives, including those representing less 

than thirty properties, should need the written support of at least 
thirty per cent of the council households they represent.  

• Only genuine neighbourhood representatives should have the 
right to membership of the Federation. Individual residents have 
no automatic right of audience at HFTRA meetings, and should be 
encouraged to become neighbourhood representatives. .  

Not all areas are covered by a TRA, and most of the existing TRAs 
report problems with the level of resident involvement.  
We recommend the Federation:  
• Sets regular meetings for the Way Forward group, or 

‘mainstreams’ this work into Committee and General Meetings. 
• Draws up a plan to increase diversity and representation within 

HFTRA and TRAs, with clear aims, a timetable and realistic 
targets that can be monitored. 

• Promotes plans for new BME and Young Persons Forums more 
widely, working with other local community groups. 

• Arranges high quality diversity training for its members and other 
TRA officers, tailored for the specific needs of resident 
representatives. 

• Encourages TRAs to send newer members to HFTRA General 
Meetings (e.g. as an observer) to gain experience & confidence. 

•  Sends its own representatives to Harrow’s Community Cohesion 
Management Group to develop good working links with other 
community groups and ensure residents’ concerns are noted. 

A number of TRAs are struggling and need support from the 
Federation. This includes poorly attended TRAs and those that are 
barely active or ineffective due to lack of resident involvement.    
We recommend that HFTRA adopt the following measures urgently:  

20



5 

• Make contact urgently with every TRA that has not attended its 
last three general meetings to discuss their individual issues. 

• Ensure that all its member TRAs meet all the requirements set out 
in the Tenants and Leaseholders Compact, including: 

- Regular quorate committee meetings. 
- Public meetings at least twice a year. 
- Newsletters / information produced at least twice a year.   
- A constitution based on the Council’s model constitution. 
- An equal opportunities programme, with evidence of action. 
- Up to date financial records available for inspection. 
- Evidence of support from at least 10% (preferably, 33%) of the 
council households in the TRA’s area.  

• Arrange meetings with the Chair of all associations experiencing 
problems to develop a support plan from HFTRA and the Council.  

HFTRA now receives a delegated budget from the Council. The 
Federation’s ability to run this budget effectively will be vital to any 
plans to expand its work in future years.  
We recommend that:  

• HFTRA’s Management Committee should always consider the 
Business Plan and Budget within six weeks of the AGM. 

•  The Treasurer should present an update on HFTRA’s financial 
position and issues at all Committee and General meetings.  

• HFTRA should strongly encourage all members to undertake 
relevant training in the coming year, to avoid the serious 
underspending in this area in recent years.  

The Federation will examine a suggestion that it converts to company 
status over the coming year. We feel that HFTRA does not currently 
have the capacity to take on company status, so development work 
will be needed to make such an option viable. 
Our main recommendations around company status are: 
• The Federation should not rush into a hasty decision. The 

consensus needed for such a change is not in place, and a full 
debate on potential advantages and risks still needs to be held.  

21



6 

• In addition, we feel the Federation first needs to show that it can 
work effectively under the current arrangements, e.g. by 

-  managing the new devolved budget during 2007-8 without 
significant underspends or deficits. 
- developing the capacity and skills of its members through a 
genuine commitment to training and development. 

• If Federation members do decide to develop the proposal in more 
detail, we suggest a company limited by guarantee, possibly with 
charitable status, rather than a shareholder body. 

 
2. Tenant and Leaseholder Consulatative Forum 
The TLCF has the potential to develop as an effective consultation 
forum on both policymaking and performance monitoring. However, 
over-crowded agendas and lack of opportunity for full discussion 
mean that residents have not always felt the Forum has allowed 
them to explore issues in enough depth.  
Residents were very complementary about the single-topic Forum 
held in June on the Housing Strategy, which allowed more 
discussion and had residents, staff and members working together in 
small teams. 
Our recommendations for TLCF are: 
• Greater use of small discussion groups, plenary feedback 

sessions and an organised but informal atmosphere that 
encourages people to discuss issues and put forward ideas. 

• Shorter agendas, or a mixture of relatively straightforward items 
(e.g. performance indicators) with one or two in-depth topics. 

• Clear arrangements for HFTRA to discuss the agenda while it is 
being prepared and to put forward its own suggestions. 

 
3. Residents’ Empowerment Working Group 

Over time, HFTRA became disengaged from the work of REWG. This 
caused concern about reporting lines and areas of responsibility 
among some HFTRA members.  
In fact, REWG has not met for several months. We believe HFTRA 

22



7 

and TCLF are now capable of taking over the Group’s work.  
• We recommend that REWG should be formally abolished.   
 
4. Tenants and Residents Associations 
We have already noted our concerns about inactive TRAs and those 
failing to fulfill their potential. 
We recommend that:  
• HFTRA and Tenant Participation hold joint meetings to plan and 

co-ordinate development and support work for new and existing 
TRAs. 

• HFTRA and TPOs meet with TRA Chairs to agree action plans 
with each association.       

• The inactive Miscellaneous Properties TRA is a suitable case for 
joint development work between HFTRA and housing staff.  

• The HFTRA, tenant participation officers and other housing staff 
should promote the new neighbourhood representative option. 

Most TRA officers told us they were concerned about low attendance 
at meetings. We feel TRAs should consider more proactive ways of 
engaging with residents. To increase involvement TRAs will probably 
have to go out to residents, not expect them to seek out their TRA.  
Our main recommendations in this area are that: 
• TRAs should develop new ways to keep in touch with residents, 

e.g. more outreach work and one-to-one contact (e.g. stalls, drop-
in surgeries, street contacts, websites, email, etc). 

• TRAs should also develop stronger links with other local 
community groups, e.g. sharing information, publicising meetings.  

• HFTRA should act as a clearing house to share ideas and good 
practice between TRAs 

• The problems caused by lack of local venues need to be taken 
into account in the Council’s Community Hall review. 

TRA Chairs also reported concerns that residents are not 
volunteering to serve as officers and committee members.   
Possible measures include: 

23



8 

• Allocating small, discrete projects to members, rather than 
requiring a long commitment as an officer or committee member.  

• "Shadowing" existing officers to gain experience and confidence.   
• More training for all members to develop skills and confidence.  
TRAs also expressed concerns that they were unable to attract 
significant numbers of younger residents and tenants from minority 
ethnic communities. This has obvious implications for their 
representativeness and their aim to speak on behalf of all residents in 
their area. 
We suggest individual TRAs consider the following ways to involve 
under-represented groups of residents: 

• Diversity training, including officers and committee members. 
• Develop good working relationships with local community 

groups, faith centres, “community champions” etc and keep 
them informed of the association’s work. 

• Consider “mother tongue” subgroups where there are a 
significant number of residents with a shared background. 

We recommend HFTRA:  
• Develops a plan to increase diversity and representation in 

member TRAs as quickly as possible. 
• Includes increased diversity in all action plans for TRAs. 
• Ensures that funds are made available to provide diversity 

awareness training for TRA activists. 
Harrow Council puts significant resources into tenant participation, 
but they are finite and need to be used to best effect. We feel it is as 
important to develop a culture of Best Value in resident involvement 
as in any other part of housing management. 
Our recommendations are: 
• HFTRA to carry out a Value for Money review of their work with 

the help of the Council to identify areas where existing resources 
can be used more effectively.  

• HFTRA considers training on grants and bid writing to access 
additional sources of funding for specific projects. 

24



9 

Generally communications seem reasonably good at senior level 
(e.g. between HFTRA officers and senior managers). However, 
several TRA Chairs felt communication was not so good at lower 
levels in the housing department, e.g. communication with 
contractors.  
Our recommendations for better communication include:    
• An annual Tenants Conference for all members, not just strategy 

“stakeholders”. 
• Stronger promotion of TRA events & activities, e.g. in "Homing In". 
• Making the new HFTRA website more interactive, e.g. an online 

forum for tenants and leaseholders to discuss housing issues. 
• More TRAs should be encouraged to develop their own websites.  
•  TRAs (and possibly housing staff) should consider new ways of 

keeping in touch with their residents (e.g. email and SMS mobile 
‘phone texts). 

• TRAs should consider raising their local profile with more outreach 
work (e.g. social events, tabletops, drop-ins, etc). 

• TRAs and HFTRA should share information on their activities with 
other community groups in their area as well as their residents. 
 
 

 
 
 
 

25



10 

INTRODUCTION 
In December 2006 FIRST Call was appointed as an Independent 
Residents’ Advisor in Harrow. Part of our task has been to examine 
resident involvement in Harrow and to make recommendations for 
improvements.  
This report sets out our findings. Key points and recommendations 
are summarised on pages 3 – 10 and discussed in the main report.  
Generally, we consider the overall plan for resident participation in 
Harrow (as set out in the Tenant and Leaseholder Compact) is 
sensible and fit for purpose. Throughout this report, we have 
suggested ways in which structures like the Tenant and Leaseholder 
Consultative Forum (TLCF), the Harrow Federation of Tenants and 
Residents Associations (HFTRA) and individual residents groups can 
become more effective. But these recommendations should mainly 
be seen as ways to improve the existing structures for participation.  
In our experience, when the basic framework for resident involvement 
is sound, the next step is to develop and embed a culture in which all 
partners – resident representatives, council staff and elected 
members – are constantly looking to improve the ways in which 
tenants and leaseholders are involved in decisions.  
Often this step needs a major change in attitudes. It requires 
individuals and organisations to examine the effectiveness of their 
current work and to challenge existing ways of doing things. 
However, we believe the benefits that flow from this new way of 
thinking about participation invariably justify the effort.  
We hope that the comments and suggestions in this report will help 
residents and other stakeholders in Harrow to build a strong culture of 
excellence in the area of tenant and resident involvement. 
Finally, we would like to record our thanks for all the kindness and 
assistance shown to us throughout our work. Limited space means 
we cannot list everyone, but we would particularly like to thank all the 
officers and members of HFTRA, the officers and residents of the 
individual TRAs, senior managers and tenant participation staff at 
Harrow Council, and Councillors Bath and Currie. We have been very 
impressed by both the commitment of all these people to resident 
involvement and their willingness to share their experience with us, 
and we are extremely grateful for all their help and advice.  

26



11 

1. HARROW FEDERATION OF TENANTS AND 
RESIDENTS ASSOCIATIONS (HFTRA) 
We believe a strong, proactive Federation is essential to support 
existing TRAs and extend the scope of resident participation. HFTRA 
needs to develop its capacity to deliver this support. 
Over the last few months, we have seen the hard work that HFTRA 
officers and other members have put in to strengthen the Federation 
and to prepare for the challenges it faces in the future.   
The Federation’s strengths include the experience and commitment 
of its members, the dedication of its officers, and relatively generous 
resources (e.g. a part time officer worker and a devolved annual 
budget representing around £4 per household). 
The key developments within the Federation during the last six 
months have been: 

• The election of a strong team of officers at the AGM in June; 
• The re-establishment of the Management Committee; 
• The development of a ‘Way Forward’ group to boost resident 
involvement across the borough;  
• The appointment of a new officer post for 2007-8 to raise 
strategy and policy work higher up the Federation’s agenda; 
• Updating of the Federation’s Constitution and Code of Conduct;  
• Transfer of a devolved budget from the Council to the 
Federation; 
• The resolution of issues that had been taking too much of the 
officers’ time, such as the level of attendance allowances, and 
• Improved working relations with the Portfolio Holder and senior 
housing staff. 
However, we certainly do not want to encourage any complacency. 
HFTRA has improved in recent months, but it still has a long way to 
go before it can represent Harrow’s tenants and leaseholders with 
the effectiveness they deserve.  
Our work with Federation officers and other members have alerted 
us to a number of issues that have the potential to cause internal 

27



12 

conflict or distract the Federation’s from its essential work: 
• The need to adopt a more “bottom up” style of decision making, 
in which all members are involved in the development of policy. At 
the moment most proposals are initiated by officers rather than 
general members;    
• The role of freeholders in Tenant and Resident Associations 
(TRAs) funded from the Housing Revenue Account, an issue that 
has emerged again following HFTRA meetings where the Berridge 
TRA was represented by two freeholders; 
• Uncertainty over the status of Resident Representatives (often 
seen, incorrectly, as unelected individuals who speak on behalf of 
their neighbours in areas without a TRA). Several officers raised 
this with us, and it was discussed at the Federation’s first “Way 
Forward” meeting;  
• A lack of diversity at HFTRA meetings, in particular a shortage 
of Black and minority ethnic (BME) representatives and younger 
residents at HFTRA meetings; 
• The need to maintain contact with all TRAs and to support 
those experiencing problems (highlighted by the absence of 
several TRAs from all HFTRA meetings during the last six months); 
• Future funding if the Federation takes on new projects and 
supports new TRAs, an issue raised with us by HFTRA officers, 
and 
• The recent proposal to convert HFTRA into a limited company 
to establish greater autonomy and independence. Several TRAs 
have raised concerns with us and the issues are discussed in more 
detail later in this section.  
 The Tenants and Leaseholders Compact sets out the 
responsibilities HFTRA has agreed to accept during 2006-9. The 
table below sets out our assessment of HFTRA’s current 
performance and highlights areas where it needs to develop its 
potential to meet its obligations.  

 
 
 

28



13 

Task Current performance 
Involve customers 
in the provision of 
housing services 

Yes, for active TRA members. But only half Harrow’s 
tenants and leaseholders are covered by a TRA, and 
several associations are not in regular contact with 
HFTRA. 
As a result, HFTRA cannot yet claim to involve all 
residents.  The Federation needs to work to establish 
strong TRAs throughout the borough. 

Monitor 
performance and 
service delivery 

Not involved in any systematic monitoring of 
performance, although specific problems do 
sometimes reach HFTRA through its members.  

Develop new ideas 
and methods for 
solving council 
housing problems 

In recent months, the Federation has tended to 
concentrate on internal issues, rather than producing 
new ideas on wider housing matters. We would like to 
see the Federation become much more involved in 
the development of new solutions to existing housing 
problems.  

Influence policies 
and practices 

Some input through TLCF, but we would like to see 
HFTRA take a stronger lead here in 2007/8. 

Consider wider 
community 
problems and find 
solutions 

Some signs of development here (e.g. some 
members are keen to be more involved in policy 
making around anti-social behaviour).  An area that 
should be developed in 2007/8. 

Advise managers 
on local priorities in 
housing services 

Involved in Minor Estates Improvement Budgets 
decisions. Needs to develop stronger consultation 
arrangements, e.g. meetings with housing managers.  

Advise managers 
on development of 
strategy 

Some involvement in the 2007 Housing Strategy 
through TLCF and Tenants Conference. An area 
where HFTRA could develop a more active role. 

Liaison with other 
groups and 
organisations 

Very limited contact with other organisations. Would 
be a good idea to develop links with other local 
community groups and regional / national tenants’ 
bodies in 2007/8.  

Table 1: HFTRA responsibilities under the Tenant Compact 
 

29



14 

HFTRA has spent the last few months addressing internal problems 
and developing its potential to engage more effectively in future. The 
challenge for the Federation during the next year will be to deliver 
actual outcomes, such as wider involvement and more support for 
struggling TRAs. The rest of this section gives our suggestions and 
recommendations to help HFTRA achieve this.  
 
(a) Greater involvement within the Federation 
Officers are elected to carry out the day-to-day running of HFTRA by 
the Federation’s membership. This requires them to carry out a 
delicate balancing act; they must be able to provide vision and 
leadership, while at the same time building up the consensus and 
support that will be needed for any changes that they want to 
introduce. Committee members must also be willing to share some of 
the responsibility for policy making; it is not fair to allow all this work 
to fall on the officers.  
We think Federation officers have sometimes adopted too top-down 
an approach to policy making in the past, which can upset the 
general members. A recent example is the proposal to convert to a 
limited company, seen by some members as an attempt to hurry the 
proposal through without giving them the opportunity to consult fully 
with their own TRAs. Officers must remember that the power to make 
major decisions always rests with the Federation as a whole, so that 
a consensus must always be built before any major change can be 
made.  
Equally, members need to understand that the Federation does need 
to change the way it works if it is going to meet its commitments to 
residents under the Tenants and Leaseholders Compact. “Business 
as usual” is simply not an option if HFTRA is going to represent 
tenants and leaseholders effectively. Therefore, members need to 
understand why changes will be necessary.  
For these reasons, we welcome the re-establishment of the 
Federation’s Management Committee. We see it as an important way 
to involve more members in the Federation’s work and ensure that 
new and better ways of working have their full support. In addition, 
the Committee must have the power to influence policy, it must be 
able to hold officers to account when required, and it must not be 
allowed to become a mere talking shop. 

30



15 

We do have a concern about the lack of recent training undertaken by 
HFTRA members. Less than £200 was spent by HFTRA on training 
for tenant representatives in 2006-7 (less than 1% of the year’s 
expenditure). This is not a new problem: the Audit Commission noted 
the same problem in their 2004 Inspection report. 
We think the Federation should definitely do more to promote the 
benefits of training, and to encourage members to take advantage of 
its training budget. We are also worried that most individual members 
do not seem to appreciate the importance of training; attendance at 
our own training sessions, designed to help resident representatives 
become more efficient in their work, was far too low. We are worried 
that this could reflect a complacent attitude among members, who 
may believe that there is no need to update and improve their skills.     
We consider it is essential that members of the Management 
Committee: 

• Meet frequently. At the very least, there should be a meeting 
every two months, to ensure that officers receive regular advice 
and feedback from the entire Committee. We suggest these 
meetings should be held halfway between General Meetings. 

• Receive extra training for their new role as soon as possible. 
Suitable topics would include governance, financial training. 
Other training that will help them face the challenges facing the 
Federation includes diversity awareness (several TRAs have 
reported they have trouble attracting Black and minority ethnic 
tenants) and team building skills. 

• Make some essential training a requirement for HFTRA officers 
(e.g. finance training for the Treasurer, minute taking for the 
Secretary, Chairing skills) within two months of their 
appointment, unless the Committee considers they already 
have sufficient knowledge and experience for their post. 

  
(b) Involving freeholders 
As more homes are sold under the Right to Buy, the Federation will 
need to face the challenge of representing TRAs that have a large 
proportion of freeholders. The issue surfaced this year, when the new 
Berridge TRA had problems recruiting council tenants to its 
committee. We are pleased that the Berridge officers have made 

31



16 

significant efforts to recruit more tenants to their Board, and we note 
that a local tenant is now attending HFTRA meetings as one of its 
representatives. We hope this TRA will continue its work to 
encourage more tenants to take an active part in the running of their 
association.     
We believe it is essential that every TRA is fully involved with housing 
management issues that affect tenants and leaseholders. Council 
tenants will have their own specific concerns that can be drowned out 
if an association is dominated by freeholders. Associations are 
funded from tenants’ rents and service charges (although Pinner Hill 
TRA’s very effective fundraising means that most of its money comes 
from residents across all tenures), and they have the support of 
tenant participation staff employed by the housing department. As a 
result, council tenants and leaseholders have a right to expect TRAs 
to concentrate on their issues. 
Having said this, anything that reduces freeholders’ involvement in 
residents group is likely to disadvantage council tenants as well as 
freeholders. All residents need to have a strong, united voice in their 
negotiations with the Council and other organisations such as the 
police. TRAs can also play an important part in building stronger, 
more “sustainable communities” by breaking down the barriers 
between tenants and homeowners. In addition, most TRAs are not in 
a position to turn away suitable committee members because of their 
tenure.   
At the moment, there is no clear definition of the proportion of tenants 
and leaseholders to freeholders that is needed to quality as a “real” 
tenant and resident association.  We have heard informal rules of 
thumb such as “there must be at least one tenant on the committee” 
or “at least sixty per cent of the members must be tenants”. In fact, 
there are no criteria currently in place, and we doubt whether it would 
be useful to set an arbitrary limit. Rather, we feel TRAs need to 
ensure that tenants and leaseholders’ issues are always at the heart 
of their work. We believe HFTRA’s should always focus on a TRA’s 
effectiveness at representing all the council tenants and leaseholders 
in its area.  
The following suggestions may be useful as a starting point for a 
discussion on the level of tenant participation that should be expected 
from any TRA, regardless of the proportion of tenants in the 

32



17 

neighbourhood.  
We think it is reasonable to adopt requirements similar to the 
following for new and existing TRAs: 
• At least one of the key officers (Chair, Vice-Chair, Secretary and 

Treasurer) must be a council tenant. 
• Membership of the TRA must be open to all eligible council 

tenants and leaseholders.  
• Membership must be free to tenant and leaseholders, to reflect the 

support that associations receive from the HRA, including the 
support of tenant management officers. Of course, tenants would 
remain free to make voluntary contributions. 

• All general and committee meetings should have an agenda item 
to discuss housing management issues. 

• A copy of the TRA’s Constitution, with any Standing Orders and 
supporting papers, to be sent to the HFTRA and the Tenant 
Participation team. 

• Copies of the Minutes of all General and Committee meetings, 
and the annual accounts at the AGM, to be sent to the HFTRA (if 
the TRA is a member) and the Tenant Participation team within 
twenty-eight days.   

 
(c) Incorporating Neighbourhood Representatives 
The Tenants and Leaseholders Compact (Section 8.1.1) sets out the 
framework for local representation in areas that do not have an active 
tenant and resident association. The two main methods described in 
the Compact are: 

(a) “Local contacts”: unelected tenants and leaseholders who 
volunteer to be a contact point between their neighbours and 
the Council, and 

(b) “Neighbourhood [or block, or street] representatives”: individual 
tenants or leaseholders who have been elected by other local 
residents to act on their behalf. In areas with more than thirty 
homes, at least one-third of the local council households must 
sign up to support the representative. The level of support can 
be lower in small blocks: a representative with the support of 

33



18 

just two households in a block of eighteen flats could be 
recognised as a representative. 

The Compact (Section 8.2.1, “Requirements”) makes it clear that 
elected neighbourhood representatives who are recognised by the 
Council are entitled to be members of HFTRA. The unelected “local 
contacts” do not seem to have any right to be members.  
Currently there are no neighbourhood representatives on the HFTRA, 
and some HFTRA officers have expressed concern about their future 
incorporation in the Federation. Their main concerns are: 
(a) a belief that neighbourhood representatives are not elected, or 
they are not accountable to local residents.  In fact, as described 
above, they are elected by residents, although it is unclear how 
tenants and leaseholders would be able to withdraw their support 
from them at a later date. 
(b) that the small areas of housing that they cover would give them 
disproportionate voting rights. The new Federation Constitution 
allows member TRAs to have two votes at meetings, while a 
neighbourhood representative would have a single vote. Therefore, a 
TRA representing several hundred households would have twice the 
votes of a representative representing, say, half a dozen households. 
Although we appreciate the point, we do not think this should prevent 
the incorporation of neighbourhood representatives into the 
Federation. No HFTRA members have expressed concern at smaller 
TRAs having the same number of votes as large ones. The 
Federation could solve the issue of votes for members who represent 
small numbers of households by amending its Constitution to allow 
extra votes based on the number of properties covered, but we 
suspect this would run into opposition from many of the smaller 
TRAs.  
(c) some Federation members believe neighbourhood 
representatives should be incorporated into a revived Miscellaneous 
Properties TRA. This is an interesting proposal, but it appears to run 
counter to the vision for representatives set out in the Tenant and 
Leaseholder Compact.  It seems impossible to force representatives 
who are recognised in their own right to join a wider TRA against their 
will. 
We feel that neighbourhood representatives are a sensible way to 

34



19 

arrange representation in smaller neighbourhoods, and on estates 
where there is not yet enough support for a full TRA. Including 
neighbourhood representatives can only strength the Federation’s 
coverage and legitimacy.  
Nevertheless, the Federation will need to ensure that the 
representatives really are speaking on behalf of all the council 
households they cover, not just a small clique. Like other members, 
neighbourhood representatives who are members of the HFTRA 
should be expected to undertake training to improve their skills and 
knowledge.   
Our recommendations for neighbourhood representatives are: 
• The Council and HFTRA should agree an induction and training 

programme for new and existing neighbourhood representatives. 
• They should also actively promote the neighbourhood 

representative option to ensure as many council tenants and 
leaseholders are represented at HFTRA and TLCF. 

• We feel all neighbourhood representatives, including those 
representing less than thirty properties, should need the written 
support of at least thirty per cent of the council households. A 
representative who does not have the support of three residents in 
a street of twenty-five households can hardly be described as 
genuinely representative. This recommendation would require an 
amendment to the Tenant and Leaseholder Compact.  

• Only genuine neighbourhood representatives should have the 
right to membership of the Federation. Individual residents have 
attended the Federation’s last two general meetings (June 2007) 
in a private capacity, and have expected to take part in the 
debates as if they were elected representatives. They should be 
encouraged to become neighbourhood representatives, rather 
than attending in a purely private capacity.  

 
(d) Extending diversity 
In a diverse borough like Harrow, it is essential that the Federation 
shows it takes diversity issues seriously. Unless it can demonstrate 
the will to tackle problems of under-representation by younger 
tenants and leaseholders and by Black and Asian residents, its 

35



20 

claims to represent all Council tenants and leaseholders could be 
open to challenge. 
There is a noticeable absence of Black and Asian representatives at 
HFTRA meetings, and a shortage of residents in their twenties and 
thirties. This is not surprising: TRAs usually send their most 
experienced officers along to Federation meetings, who are likely to 
have been involved in resident participation for many years, and this 
will naturally exclude younger or newer residents. Coupled with the 
unwillingness of some able BME tenants to put themselves forward 
as TRA officers (discussed in the chapter on TRAs), this means that 
the Federation and its member associations are missing vital sources 
of new activists.  
To make the problem worse, we have encountered racist and sexist 
attitudes among a few TRA officers in Harrow. We must stress that 
these are only a small minority of the activists with whom we have 
worked. But at least two of these officers were in positions where 
their views could send out a strong message to women or to BME 
residents that their involvement is not valued by their TRA.     
The Federation’s new “Way Forward” group has been set up to 
increase involvement, especially among groups that are currently 
under-represented. It has held one meeting. As far as we know, no 
follow-up action has taken place and at the time of writing a second 
meeting has not been arranged. Good intentions need to be turned 
into action quickly in this area. The Federation should not let this 
important initiative fade away before it has had a chance to deliver 
any benefits.  
We have been pleased to see the Federation’s plans to develop BME 
and Young Persons’ Forums advertised on the new website 
(www.harrowfed.co.uk). However, these are currently plans that are 
just starting to be developed. As yet there have been no meetings of 
the forums. The Federation needs to make sure that these 
imaginative new ways of attracting under-represented groups receive 
all the support they deserve from both Federation members and from 
other community organisations that already have contact with these 
residents. 
To sum up, HFTRA is beginning to face up to the problem of under-
representation. The challenge now is to put its good intentions into 
practice as soon as possible.  

36



21 

We recommend the Federation:  
• Sets regular meetings for the Way Forward group. A possible 

alternative would be to ‘mainstream’ the group’s work by making 
it an agenda item at all Committee and General Meetings, but we 
are worried that some focus might be lost in general meetings. 

• The group should draw up a plan to increase diversity and 
representation within HFTRA and member TRAs, with clear aims, 
a timetable and realistic targets that can be monitored by the 
Federation. 

• Promotes its plans for a new BME Forum more widely and 
encourages local BME community groups to become involved in 
its development. 

• Similarly, promotes its plans for a Young Persons Forum and 
makes links with organisations working with younger people and 
young families.  

• Arranges high quality diversity training for its members, and 
encourages all TRA officers to take part. This should be tailored 
for the specific needs of resident representatives, rather than a 
general diversity awareness package. For example, it needs to 
provide practical advice on ways to break down barriers to tenant 
and leaseholder involvement.   

• Encourages TRAs to send newer / younger members to HFTRA 
General Meetings (e.g. as their second representative or as an 
observer) to gain experience and confidence and to contribute to 
the Federation’s work.  

•  Sends representatives to Harrow’s Community Cohesion 
Management Group. This will allow the Federation to develop 
good working links with other community organisations working in 
Harrow, and HFTRA would be able to represent its residents’ 
concerns on a wide range of community issues.  More details are 
available from the Council’s Policy and Partnership team, who 
would welcome HFTRA representatives on to the Group.  

 
(e) Supporting TRAs 
Not all associations attend HFTRA meetings. For example, 
associations such as Churchill Place have not attended any meetings 

37



22 

during the last half-year.  
The Federation needs to make contact with these associations 
urgently to find out why they are not coming to meetings. Failure to 
attend may be a signal that a TRA is experiencing problems and that 
it could benefit from help and support from the Federation. 
In addition, HFTRA often has very little information on the work that 
these TRAs are carrying out. The Federation needs to insist that 
members give it sufficient information about their working 
arrangements.  
We recommend that the Federation adopt the following measures as 
an urgent priority: 
• Make contact urgently with every TRA that has not attended its 

last three general meetings to discuss their individual issues and 
to develop a clear picture of their current work and any problems.  

• Ensure that all its member TRAs meet all the requirements set out 
in the Tenants and Leaseholders Compact at Sections 6.4 and 
8.1, including: 

- Regular quorate committee meetings. 
- Public meetings (open to all tenants and leaseholders) at least 
twice a year. 
- Newsletters / information produced at least twice a year.   
- A constitution based on the Council’s model constitution. 
- An equal opportunities programme, with evidence of action. 
- Up to date financial records available for inspection. 
- Evidence of support from at least 10% of the council 
households in the TRA’s area. [Section 8.1.3 suggests at least 
33%.] 
- TRAs that fail to meet the requirements in the Tenants and 
Leaseholders Compact need effective, well-planned support 
from HFTRA and the Council immediately.  

• Arrange meetings with the Chair of all associations experiencing 
these problems to develop a support plan setting out the help that 
HFTRA and the Council will give to make sure the TRA can meet 
its obligations under the Compact. 

38



23 

• Insist that all its member TRAs send the Federation office annual 
returns giving basic information, including: 

- Names, contact details and tenure of all officers and 
committee members; 
- The TRA’s annual accounts, and 
- The minutes of all general and committee meetings (these 
should be forwarded to the HFTRA office throughout the year). 
- The HFTRA also needs to keep a copy of each TRA’s 
constitution on file and receive notification of any amendments.   

 
(f) Finances 
Last year the Federation’s main expenses were: 

(a) grants to TRAs (£2,750 in 2006/7, representing 14% of total 
HFTRA spending during the year) 

(b)  officers’ attendance allowances for work at the office (£3,697, 
or 19% of the year’s costs) 

(c) office equipment, including hire of the photocopier 
(£3,681,representing 19% of total costs), and 

(d) rent for the HFTRA office at the Civic Centre (£2,650, or 13½% 
of costs). 

During the last year, the main financial problems were: 
• Significant underspending on some key budget heads, e.g. 

training. This was seen as “good housekeeping” by Federation 
officers. We cannot support this position. Good quality training 
is an investment that builds up the ability to work on behalf of 
tenants and residents. In our experience, effective 
organisations are very keen to train and develop their 
members.   

• Too much focus on the attendance allowances paid to officers 
for Federation work. The problem here was that discussion of 
this issue took up a lot of officer time over many weeks, which 
could have been devoted to other issues affecting all residents.  
The establishment of a devolved budget has helped to defuse 
this issue at the moment, but the 2006/7 budget is a tight one 

39



24 

and careful monitoring will be needed throughout the year on 
major budget items, including attendance allowances. 

• An expensive photocopier contract, inherited from an earlier 
administration. This will cost around £5,000 during the year 
(around 20% of the total budget). The HFTRA is trying to re-
negotiate the budget, but we cannot see what incentive the 
supplier will have to vary the contract terms.  

 We believe the Federation should allow for the full contract 
costs of the photocopier in this year’s budget. If a reduction can 
be negotiated, this will provide a welcome windfall that can be 
diverted to other heads or, we suggest, be set aside as a 
contingency fund.   

HFTRA now has a devolved budget of £24,690 for 2007-8, funded 
from rents and service charges. Federation members owe a duty to 
all Harrow tenants and leaseholders to ensure the money is used as 
effectively as possible. 
A key challenge over the coming year will be to move from an 
organisation that focuses on costs and savings to one that is 
concerned with principles of best value and the most effective use of 
financial resources. In other words, HFTRA members need to be 
assessing how the Federation can get the best possible results from 
the money it receives.   
Looking ahead, if HFTRA is successful in its aims to develop new 
TRAs and to bring residents’ representatives into the Federation, it 
will need a larger budget to cover the extra grants, training and other 
support involved. The answer would seem to be to build an element 
of formula funding into the finances, with extra funds dependent of 
the number of active TRAs and representatives that are members. 
However, HFTRA and the Council should be concerned with the 
quality as well as the quantity of work carried out, and ensure that the 
tenants and leaseholders who ultimately pay HFTRA’s budget are 
receiving good value for money.  
We recommend that  

• HFTRA’s Management Committee should always consider the 
Federation’s Business Plan and Budget within six weeks of the 
AGM. The Committee can delegate production of the Plan and 
Budget to officers, but we believe the Committee should have 

40



25 

the power to agree or amend both these documents.  
• The Treasurer should present an update on the Federation’s 

financial position and any related financial issues as a separate 
agenda item at all Committee and General meetings.  

• HFTRA should strongly encourage all its members to undertake 
relevant training in the coming year, and to use the funds that 
have been set aside for their training needs. We have made 
some suggestions for suitable training throughout this report.  

 
(g) Limited company status 
HFTRA is currently exploring a proposal that it should convert to a 
limited company. This is an interesting proposal that the Federation 
will be considering over the next year. However:    
(a) the June 2007 General Meeting has decided that a final decision 
should not be made until June 2008 at the earliest; 
(b) some members are unhappy with the way this proposal was 
introduced for the first time under Any Other Business at the end of 
the 2007 AGM. This caused concerns that it was a top-down project 
developed by officers without prior discussion with the TRAs; 
(c)  several members have told us that they do not understand why 
such a change is needed. They feel they have been told about the 
possible benefits of a change, but not given any reason why such 
radical change is necessary.   
Company status is a powerful legal and financial tool, but it is not 
suitable for every organisation. It brings extra responsibilities and 
risks. The real question that HFTRA members should ask themselves 
is why they would want to convert to a company. For example, would 
company status allow the Federation to carry out its work more 
effectively, or allow it greater autonomy from the Council?  
Company status would give the Federation an independent legal 
identity. It would allow the Federation greater control over its financial 
affairs, and it might allow HFTRA to claim back useful amounts of 
VAT.  
However, we feel that HFTRA needs to show that it can manage its 
affairs properly under the existing arrangements before it considers 
taking on the challenges of a limited company. For example, HFTRA 

41



26 

has yet to demonstrate that it can manage its newly delegated budget 
properly. In 2006/7, there was significant underspending by HFTRA, 
and spending on training was very low (less than £200 for the year, 
about 1% of total costs). However, training and capacity building are 
the very activities that we would expect to see from any organisation 
that plans to improve performance and expand its work into new 
areas.  
If the Federation does decide to develop the proposal further, we 
think that a company ‘limited by guarantee’ is more suitable for a 
voluntary organisation like HFTRA. Under this model, TRAs would 
become “members” rather than “shareholders”. A company limited by 
guarantee cannot distribute profits to shareholders. It could apply for 
charitable status, which would make extra sources of funding 
available to the Federation. 
If HFTRA decides to develop this proposal in more detail, we suggest 
its members need to consider the following issues: 
• What happens if the company goes into deficit? An 
independent company could not expect the Council to bail it out.  
• Does HFTRA has the skills & capacity to deal with the extra 
legal and financial responsibilities involved in the running of a 
company? If not, what would need to be done to achieve this - 
training, new members, etc?  
What will happen to the Management Committee under the 
proposal? Will Committee members become Directors?  

• How frequently will shareholder meetings be held? This would 
obviously affect the shareholders’ ability to monitor the Board.  
• Would the directors expect to be paid? If so, why and how 
much?   
• Are the reasons for converting to a company sound ones? It 
has been suggested that HFTRA Limited could operate a Service 
Level Agreement (SLA) with the Council? But would the benefits of 
an SLA justify the extra risks that come with company status and a 
more commercial relationship with the Council?  
• What will be the terms of the Service Level Agreement? Will 
Harrow Council be buying services from HFTRA under the SLA, or 
will the Federation be buying goods and services from the Council? 
What will these be? And what conditions will the Council want to 

42



27 

include in the contract to make sure it gets value for money?  
Our main recommendations around company status are: 
• The Federation does not rush into a hasty decision. Presently, we 

simply do not think the Federation is ready to change status. The 
consensus needed for such a change is not in place and a full 
debate on potential advantages and risks still needs to be held.  

• In addition, we feel the Federation first needs to show that it can 
work effectively under the current arrangements, e.g. by 

-  managing the new devolved budget during 2007-8, 
delivering its spending plans without either a significant 
underspend or a deficit; 
- in particular, show that it is serious about improving the 
capacity and skills of its members through a genuine 
commitment to training and development; 
 - develop a more proactive and innovative approach to issues 
such as low participation and diversity, and 
- show that it can support struggling TRAs and adapt to the 
emerging challenges of incorporating freeholders and 
neighbourhood representatives into the participation structure. 

• If the Federation members decide to develop the proposal in 
more detail, we suggest a company limited by guarantee, 
possibly with charitable status, to provide extra regulation and 
access to additional funding streams. This would probably be a 
better model than a shareholder organisation. 

 
 

2. TENANT AND LEASEHOLDER CONSULTATIVE 
FORUM  
We believe the Tenant and Leaseholder Consultative Forum (TCLF) 
demonstrates the Council’s support for resident consultation on 
strategy and policy issues. We have been impressed by the 
commitment of senior housing staff and Members to the Forum’s 
work.  
Nevertheless, we feel that the Forum’s effectiveness could be 

43



28 

improved. At times, we have noted the following issues at its 
meetings:  
•   Not always designed to encourage a full, structured discussion of 

issues by tenants; 
• Attempts to cover too much material in a single session; 
•  Not designed to catch estate-level issues; 
• Emphasis is on policy development rather than service delivery;    
• Inadvertently sets up an “us-and-them” dynamic between housing 

staff and residents. 
 Our assessment of the Forum’s performance against the Tenants 
and Leaseholders Compact is summarised in the following table, 
based on Section 8.1.3 of the Tenants and Leaseholders Compact. 

 

Task Current performance 
Co-ordinated 
consultation with a 
link to elected 
Members. 

Co-ordination does not seem to extend to shared 
control of the agenda, which appears to be set by 
the Council side. Otherwise, seems a genuine 
spirit of co-operation at meetings.  Portfolio holder 
and one other councillor attend meetings. 

Consider borough-
wide housing 
issues 

Yes, TLCF appears to meet this role effectively. 
However, some residents’ representatives have 
told us they would like a similar opportunity to raise 
local, estate-based issues.   

Consider wider 
community issues, 
e.g. crime and anti-
social behaviour 

Not really considered at the Forums we have 
attended. For example, the HFTRA Chair and 
some other members are keen to discuss 
management issues around mental health and 
vulnerable tenants, but do not seem to have 
considered TLCF for discussion of this issue.  

Set clear service 
standards & targets 

Yes, TLCF seems to be an ideal arena for this type 
of work. 

 

Table 2: TLCF responsibilities under the Tenant Compact 
  

44



29 

 

Consider different 
approaches to 
participation and 
review council 
policy  

The small group approach (see below) could 
ensure residents’ representatives have enough 
opportunity to discuss ideas in sufficient depth 
during an evening. We feel that a single large 
meeting might not provide enough time for a full 
debate involving everyone on complex policy 
issues.  

Assess the results 
of compacts and 
agreements 

Yes, TLCF seems an excellent setting for 
reviewing performance on contracts and 
agreements. For example, it would seem to be a 
suitable place to monitor contractor performance.  

Refer matters as 
necessary to the 
Council 

Packed agendas seem to leave residents little 
room to raise additional issues. 

 

Table 2 (cont): TLCF responsibilities under the Tenant Compact 
 

Overall, the Forum provides a useful arena for discussion, but we 
have sometimes felt that residents have too little opportunity to 
discuss items in depth at the meetings.  
We feel that the “single issue” TLCF meeting on the Housing Strategy 
held in June provides a good template for future Forum meetings. All 
the residents we spoke to after the meeting were very positive about 
the way it had been designed and run. The key points they made 
were: 
• Work in small groups (with reporting back at the end) allows 
more opportunities for discussion and greater involvement in the final 
decisions;  
• Mixed groups of officers, members and residents working 
through the issues helped break down barriers between these 
groups, and 
• A single item for the evening allowed enough time to debate the 
issues properly. 
This echoes similar praise we heard from residents for the Housing 
Strategy Conference in May. 

45



30 

We consider that this meeting provides a good model for future 
consultation sessions. Of course, not all Forum meetings can be 
devoted to a single issue, and for some topics more emphasis may 
need to be given to providing information rather than a full debate. 
Nevertheless, we feel that the interactive approach used at this 
meeting is more likely to engage and empower residents.  (We also 
think that TRAs might want to consider how far they can adopt this 
small group approach in their own meetings.) 
 Our recommendations for TLCF are: 
• Greater use of small discussion groups, plenary feedback 

sessions and an organised but informal atmosphere that 
encourages people to discuss issues and put forward ideas. 

• Shorter agendas, or a mixture of relatively short straightforward 
items (e.g. monitoring of performance indicators) combined with 
one or two in-depth items. 

• Clear arrangements for HFTRA to discuss the agenda while it is 
being prepared and to put forward its own suggestions. 

 
 

3. RESIDENTS’ EMPOWERMENT WORKING 
GROUP 
The Residents’ Empowerment Working Group (REWG) grew out of 
the 2005 Housing Stock Options Appraisal. Its remit included resident 
consultation on capital works and service delivery. It ensured that 
residents were represented effectively in the development of a range 
of housing policies, including the Decent Homes programme, 
introductory tenancies and the Right to Manage proposal. 
Unfortunately, HFTRA became disengaged from the Group’s work 
during the last two years. As a result, some HFTRA members have 
reported confusion about REWG’s role and we have even heard 
worries that it could weaken the Federation’s role as the main voice 
for residents. In addition, we feel that their absence from REWG 
meetings meant that Federation officers did not always have enough 
appreciation of the issues around major projects.    
In fact, REWG has not met for more than six months. While it was 

46



31 

obviously sensible to set up a separate working group to take the 
appraisal’s findings forward, two years on we believe issues around 
major works, tenants’ rights and housing services could now be dealt 
with by the Tenant and Leaseholders Consultative Forum and regular 
tripartite meetings between HFTRA, the Council and contractors.    
• As a result, we recommend the REWG should be abolished. This 

will clarify reporting lines and avoid duplication of effort. 
• It is important that the work the REWG carried out on behalf of 

residents, e.g. monitoring contractors and service standards, 
continues within the TLCF or at regular Council-HFTRA meetings. 

 
 

4. TENANT AND RESIDENTS ASSOCIATIONS AND 
OTHER REPRESENTATIVES  

We have been impressed by the commitment and local knowledge of 
the officers and members of Tenant and Resident Associations in 
Harrow. However, we feel most TRAs are not as effective as they 
might be. Some of the reasons for this include: 

• Gaps in coverage: only half the Council’s tenants and 
leaseholders live in areas covered by a TRA 
• Low levels of attendance at TRA meetings (often described to 
us as “apathy” by TRA officers) 
• Lack of activists willing to take posts as existing officers retire, 
leading to concerns about the long-term viability of some TRAs 
• Problems attracting Black and minority ethnic residents and 
younger residents to meetings 
• Frustration at poor communications with parts of the Council, 
e.g. lack of contact with contractors before Decent Homes work. 

The following table attempts to summarise how well TRAs are 
meeting their responsibilities under the Tenants and Leaseholders 
Compact (especially Section 8.1.1).   
 

47



32 

Task Current performance 
To act as a 
democratically 
accountable, 
representative body 

For some TRAs low levels of involvement, very 
small committees and infrequent public meetings 
mean they may need support to become more 
representative and effective. 

To canvass 
tenants’ and 
leaseholders’ views 

Some TRAs need to consider more proactive ways 
of capturing the views of residents who do not 
attend their meetings, including under-represented 
groups such as younger families and tenants from 
ethnic minorities. Some TRAs report that low 
numbers of activists make effective canvassing, 
e.g. door knocking, very difficult. 

Monitor 
performance and 
service delivery 

This happens to some extent. But several TRAs 
report problems actually getting specific service 
issues resolved. Some Chairs have suggested 
regular meetings with service managers in areas 
like caretaking and grounds maintenance. 

To take part in 
consultation and 
negotiation 

Appears to vary between TRAs. This may depend 
in part on the personality and networking skills of 
individual TRA officers, especially the Chairs. 

Take part in estate 
inspections and 
walkabouts  
 

Yes, these are held every six months in most 
areas. Generally, residents seem satisfied with the 
walkabouts, but we have heard complains that 
some work identified on walkabouts is not carried 
out in a reasonable time.   

Represent 
residents’ views in 
discussions with 
other local 
organisations 

Generally, we feel TRAs should be trying to build 
stronger links with other statutory and voluntary 
sector organisations working in their 
neighbourhood. 

Work with other 
partners, e.g., 
police, health and 
housing 
associations  

Some TRAs (e.g. ELTRA, Cottesmore) do invite 
their local Safer Neighbourhood team. Partnership 
working with local housing associations, health 
trust, town planners, highways, etc generally seem 
poor or non-existent at TRA and Federation level. 

Table 3: TRA responsibilities under the Tenant Compact 

48



33 

Of course, the level of engagement varies considerably between 
TRAs, but we feel the table gives a reasonable summary of the 
strengths and the problems we have encountered in our work with 
individual TRAs.  
 
(a) Gaps in coverage 
Tenant participation officers (TPOs) have told us that residents who 
are interested in setting up new TRAs in their areas have approached 
them during the last few months.  However, they have put off this 
development work due to pressure on resources within the team.   
This development work needs to start at once. We feel this work 
should be co-ordinated with HFTRA’s own “Way Forward” initiative, 
designed to increase levels of resident involvement across the 
borough. The Federation can bring invaluable resources to 
development work (e.g. start up grants, funds for training, members’ 
own experiences of setting up an association, a “residents’ eye” 
perspective on the issues, and above all their enthusiasm for 
involvement). While Tenant Participation staff should obviously carry 
out the bulk of this work (it is, after all, an essential part of their job), 
we believe that new TRAs can only benefit from a co-ordinated 
approach that draws on the experience of existing activists.   
In addition, some existing TRAs need to receive more support to deal 
with problems such as low involvement by tenants, issues around 
representation (e.g. low levels of participation by Black and minority 
ethnic residents) and support for new officers to replace those who 
want to stand down.  
Tenants in street properties are not currently represented, following 
the demise of the Miscellaneous Properties TRA. HFTRA’s Way 
Forward group has identified this as an association that could 
potentially be revived, but so far no action has been taken.  
Both the Tenant Compact and HFTRA’s new Constitution make 
provision for “neighbourhood representatives”, elected residents who 
are willing to act as representatives in neighbourhoods where there is 
no TRA. So far, this form of representation has not been developed 
very extensively.  
Although significant numbers of new resident representatives could 
create some concerns within the existing resident involvement 

49



34 

structure, the Tenant and Leaseholder Compact requirements (the 
support of at least 30% of council households in areas of more than 
thirty homes) means that neighbourhood representatives are required 
to gain a similar level of local support as formal TRAs. We believe 
this is a sensible solution to the problem of representation where 
there is not yet enough support for a formal TRA.   
We recommend that:  
• HFTRA and the Tenant Participation Officers (TPOs) hold regular 

joint meetings to plan and co-ordinate development and support 
work for new and existing TRAs. 

• HFTRA and TPOs meet with TRA Chairs to agree action plans 
and targets for support work with each association.       

• We believe that a revived Miscellaneous Properties TRA would be 
a suitable case for joint development work between the Federation 
and tenant participation staff, and suggest that this work starts at 
once.  

• The HFTRA, tenant participation officers and other housing staff 
promote the new neighbourhood / street representative option as 
widely as possible, with TPOs and HFTRA agreeing a training and 
support package for new representatives.  

 
 (b) Low levels of involvement 
Many TRAs reported concerns at low levels of involvement at public 
meetings. Only one TRA (Brookside Close) reported that it is 
satisfied with the level of attendance at its meetings. 
In Harrow, as elsewhere, the dominant model of local involvement 
focuses on the public TRA meeting and the newsletter. There are 
things that can be done to make meetings more interesting and 
useful, and many of these were covered in our training session on 
“Effective Meetings”. These include more work in small groups, 
breaks and ‘social’ items, a stronger focus on interaction and 
discussion throughout the entire meeting, etc. Nevertheless, 
attending public meetings will always be a minority interest, unless a 
particular issue is currently affecting almost everyone in the 
neighbourhood.  
To be genuinely representative TRAs increasingly need to go out to 

50



35 

their residents, rather than expecting the residents to come to them. 
In our experience, most people want relatively focused answers to 
their own questions, or to raise a specific problem that affects them 
personally, without committing themselves to further involvement. 
But these contacts can also be an opportunity for tenant activists to 
pass on information or discuss other issues.  
Methods that may help TRAs reach these residents include: 
• Websites, which have the potential to give residents information 
quickly and to allow very focused discussion through email or 
(better for encouraging other members) online forums. Only two 
TRAs seem to be using websites. For many TRAs, setting up and 
maintaining an active site will be a daunting task. However, HFTRA 
does have members who are experienced in web development, as 
well as a budget for training. The Federation could also develop a 
basic template to get TRAs started, after which each TRA would 
generate its own content.    
• Stalls (“table-tops”) in prominent places, street representatives 
and informal drop-in sessions can all allow residents to raise 
individual concerns, without having to give up a whole evening to 
attend a meeting. (Although this might seem a selfish attitude to 
some activists, not all residents have the time or confidence to 
attend formal meetings.) 

• Regular contact with other local community groups, faith 
centres, etc can help TRAs discover the concerns of residents who 
are not attending their own meetings, while publicising the TRA’s 
own work. This approach may also help address some of the issues 
around diversity and the representation of minority tenants, since 
several TRAs have reported problems attracting BME residents to 
their own meetings. 
We strongly believe that TRAs must always look for new ways to 
engage their residents in ways that suit individual residents, rather 
than expecting individuals to adapt to the TRA’s own traditional ways 
of working. If this seems a rather general comment, it is because 
each TRA will need to develop approaches that seem to suit their 
own local communities.   
We are very aware that this sort of cultural change can be difficult, 
especially for tenant activists who have spent many years working in 

51



36 

a culture of formal meetings. We are not suggesting that these new 
approaches should replace meetings, rather that they should 
complement them. This may initially mean some extra work on the 
part of associations. 
Some TRAs have explained that the lack of local community meeting 
halls is a barrier to greater involvement. TRAs without a nearby 
available community hall include Cottesmore and Weald TRAs. This 
creates at least two problems for these TRAs: 

• Holding meetings outside the estate increases distance from 
the residents’ homes, discouraging attendance, and 

• TRAs are unable to set up local community initiatives such as 
mother-and-toddler groups, play schemes, etc or hold local 
fundraising events. 

 Our main recommendations in this area are that: 
• TRAs need to develop new ways to keep in touch with residents 

who do not attend public meetings, e.g. more outreach work and 
one-to-one contact (e.g. stalls, drop-in surgeries, street contacts, 
websites with contact email addresses, etc). 

• TRAs should also develop stronger links with other local 
community groups, e.g. sharing information on local issues, 
publicising meetings and campaigns, etc.  

• HFTRA should act as a clearing house to share ideas and good 
practice between TRAs, promoting examples of successful 
involvement from neighbourhoods both within and outside Harrow. 
The Federation’s “Way Forward” group is an obvious candidate for 
this work. 

• The problems caused by lack of local community venues need to 
be taken into account in the Council’s Community Hall review. 

 
(c) Developing new officers  
Visiting TRA meetings, we were struck by the number of promising 
members (often relatively young residents from BME communities) 
who seemed to have the potential to serve as TRA officers. These 
were people who were willing to give up evenings to attend their local 
association’s meetings, but they were often uncomfortable when 

52



37 

asked whether they had considered serving as officers, feeling that 
they did not have the experience or did not want to commit 
themselves to a formal post. (A second issue was that some of these 
residents were freeholders, a topic that is discussed later in this 
report.) 
TRAs need to identify and encourage these members. Possible 
measures include: 

• Allocating small, discrete projects to members, rather than 
requiring a year long commitment as an officer or committee 
member. TRAs should consider drawing up a list of members' 
skills and areas where they are willing to carry out such work.  

• "Shadowing" (understudying) existing officers to gain 
experience and confidence.   

• Training, especially in areas where the TRA identifies gaps in 
its current skills. This could include areas such as fundraising 
and grant applications, where some TRAs have identified a gap 
in their knowledge. These are areas where members can make 
a real contribution on individual time-limited projects. 

• An induction for members who do become officers, including a 
formal handover session with the previous post holder.  

 
 (d) Increasing diversity 
In many ways, our observations on TRAs in this area echo our 
comments in the section on HFTRA. Several Chairs told us that they 
were concerned at their TRAs’ failure to attract enough residents 
from all sections of their neighbourhoods. In particular, some TRAs 
are struggling to attract younger residents, and also tenants from 
black and minority ethnic backgrounds. Some had attempted to 
attract these residents through community events (e.g. Diwali 
celebrations; children’s activities), but they reported that this did not 
seem to build up long-term involvement in the TRA’s work.  
We have already suggested that most residents, regardless of 
background, are unlikely to want to commit to regular, formally 
structured meetings. Some of the barriers to involvement by under-
represented groups may be: 
(a) lack of time: younger residents with families may not feel able to 

53



38 

give up an evening after work; 
(b) lack of confidence: the formal structure of most TRA meetings, 

with set agendas run by a group of people that already know each 
other, can be intimidating for many people. This can be a 
particular problem for younger people and those from other 
cultures, who may not be as familiar as older white British 
residents with conventions that have been largely adopted from 
trade union and political meetings.  

(c) cultural barriers:  not all cultures have a strong tradition of formal 
involvement through specialist organisations such as TRA. Often 
community activity is organised more informally, e.g. through 
family and friends, through faith centres or individual community 
leaders.  

(d) language barriers: housing management jargon can be confusing 
enough for people who speak English as a first language! People 
who are still learning English may find it very hard to follow 
debates unless someone is prepared to make time to help them 
during their first few meetings! 

(e) attitudes: younger people and residents from BME communities 
may have had bad experiences of formal groups in the past, 
where they may have encountered ageist or racist attitudes. TRAs 
may need to make a special effort to show they are different. 
Unfortunately, we did hear some racist comments from a handful 
of activists around the borough that made us feel not everyone 
from other communities will always receive a warm welcome. 
Racist and other discriminatory attitudes normally weaken TRAs 
badly by robbing them of the support of large sections of their 
residents, so TRAs should always tackle these attitudes among 
their members. 

We suggest individual TRAs consider the following ways to involve 
under-represented groups of residents: 

• Consider diversity training for your TRA, especially officers and 
committee members 

• Develop good working relationships with local community 
associations, faith centres (churches, temples, mosques, etc), 
“community champions” and other local groups. Include them in 
mailouts, invite to meetings and events, etc, and ask them to 

54



39 

refer tenants and leaseholders’ concerns to your association. 
• Bear in mind issues when arranging meetings or other events: 

this requires an awareness of diet, prayer requirements, 
religious and other festivals and holidays, jargon and language, 
“common knowledge” about our culture (which may not always 
be so common for people who did not grow up in the UK). 

•  “Mother tongue” meetings (in effect, a sub-group of the TRA for 
people with a shared background) can be a useful way of 
getting local residents involved in housing issues. But  

- this does require a reasonable number of people from the 
same community living in the neighbourhood. 
- it also needs at least one resident from the community who 
is willing to set it up and develop it. 
- it needs to work in co-ordinate with the main meetings, with 
information and ideas (and over time members) flowing 
between the main TRA meetings and the sub-group. 

We recommend HFTRA:  
• Ensures that the Way Forward group develops an action plan to 

increase diversity and representation in member TRAs as quickly 
as possible. 

• Makes increased diversity a key aim in the action plans it draws 
up for individual associations. 

• Ensures that funds are made available to provide diversity 
awareness training for TRA activists. 

 
 
5. HOUSING STAFF  
During the last few months, we have been very aware of the 
significant amount of time that senior housing staff have given to 
resident participation, especially meetings with HFTRA, TLCF 
meetings and consultation of the new Housing Strategy. This amount 
of high-level involvement is unusual, and reflects very favourably on 
the senior management team and their commitment to resident 
participation. 

55



40 

At times we have sometimes felt HFTRA officers believe they need to 
deal with the most senior member of staff, rather than the most 
appropriate one. For example, HFTRA has suggested regular liaison 
meetings with senior housing staff on services such as cleaning and 
caretaking. We think this is an excellent idea, but we believe that it 
will be more effective if the managers who are actually concerned 
with specific service delivery are encouraged to attend these 
meetings, rather than more senior strategic managers. The staff that 
are best placed to deal with problems and take on board tenants' 
comments should be at these meetings, not necessarily the ones with 
the highest position in the hierarchy.    
Throughout our work in Harrow, the tenant participation team has 
been under-strength due to staff illness. Tenant participation officers 
have told us that this has prevented them from developing new 
projects as strongly as they would like, e.g. supporting the 
development of new TRAs. One TRA Chair told us that he believed 
the team should have been able to find the resources for this vital 
work, even with a key member of staff absent. Whatever the reasons, 
we are concerned that opportunities for development work were lost, 
since we feel extending TRA coverage is vitally important work. 
Development work that tenant participation officers (TPOs) have 
carried out, e.g. support for the new Hatch End TRA, shows the value 
of this approach and should be extended to other neighbourhoods.  
We feel that tenant participation officers need to be free to 
concentrate on specialist areas of work, especially developing and 
supporting TRAs, resident representatives and other methods of 
resident involvement.  TRA officers and committee members should 
be able to call on their expertise and knowledge in these areas.  
In general, residents should not expect TPOs to be their main liaison 
to sort out housing management issues. For established, effective 
TRAs it will usually be more important to have a housing manager at 
their meetings than a tenant participation officer. TPOs are a valuable 
specialist resource, and their skills need to be used as effectively and 
productively as possible.   
We see the development of strong TRAs as a vital task for both the 
HFTRA and tenant participation staff in the coming months. Because 
their work will overlap in so many areas, lines of communication 
between HFTRA and the tenant participation team need to improve. 

56



41 

We feel that HFTRA’s concern to stress its independence from the 
Council, and the tenant participation team’s need to concentrate on 
existing projects while it ha been under strength, have combined to 
create a situation where genuine partnership working between the 
two sides is too limited. TPOs and HFTRA are not co-ordinating joint 
support programmes for ailing TRAs, nor are they really working 
together to develop new ones. Measures such as joint training 
(Tenant Compact, section 8.2) do not seem to be taking place.  
• We recommend that HFTRA officers hold regular meetings with 

TP staff to develop and review joint packages of support for 
existing TRAs, new associations, community associations and 
resident representatives.  

• In addition, we feel HFTRA members and TRA officers should take 
part in joint training sessions with tenant participation staff (as 
suggested in the Tenant and Leaseholder Compact) and other 
council staff to build up shared knowledge and partnership 
working. 

• Regular meetings should be developed between HFTRA and 
service delivery managers to consult on policies, procedures and 
problems in specific service areas such as repairs and grounds 
maintenance. 

 
  
 

6. FUNDING ISSUES AND OPPORTUNITIES 
Recently the housing department has needed to exert very careful 
control over its finances. To their credit, housing managers have 
been able to protect HFTRA’s budget. But the need for financial 
restraint has produced some relatively minor cutbacks whose 
symbolic impact among activists has been greater than one might 
have expected (e.g. attendance allowances, refreshments at 
residents’ meetings). 
In fact, Harrow Council has devolved a budget of almost £25,000 to 
HFTRA. We have heard estimates of the housing department’s total 
expenditure on resident participation work, including the cost of staff 
time and other forms of consultation, of £150,000+.  We feel this level 

57



42 

of funding should provide sufficient resources for effective resident 
involvement in a borough with around 6,000 properties.   
We have already mentioned the importance of a Best value approach 
to make the most effective use of limited resources. As a result, we 
feel that residents’ representatives and housing staff should always 
have two questions in mind: 
(a) What do residents actually receive for their money? 
(b) What can we do to provide better value (that is, better or more 
resident involvement for each pound spent)?  
We are not suggesting that Harrow and HFTRA do not provide good 
value for money now. Our point is that they should constantly be 
checking to ensure they continue to do this. For example, we have 
not heard HFTRA officers discussing how to gain the maximum 
benefit from the Federation’s devolved budget. We feel that both 
tenant representatives and tenant participation staff need to focus on 
the outputs of their work (what is actually delivered) in return for the 
resources that are put into resident involvement in Harrow.  
Our view is that the Council is currently providing adequate resources 
to HFTRA and TRAs, given the present level of involvement. But 
several members of HFTRA have asked how additional projects and 
a higher level of involvement can be resourced in the future.   
Firstly, there may be scope for efficiency savings in future, releasing 
money for new work. For example, HFTRA is currently tied into an 
expensive photocopier contract. When this ends in a couple of years, 
savings can be transferred to other parts of the Federation’s budget.  
Secondly, this year’s Federation budget does contain an element for 
development work and the costs of setting up new TRAs. If the 
Federation is able to deliver this work during 2007-8, this would 
strengthen any case for additional funding in future, possibly based 
on a formula which reflects the number of TRAs and neighbourhood 
representatives supported by the Federation and the proportion of the 
borough’s residents represented by active functioning TRAs.  
We also feel that the Federation and some stronger TRAs could, with 
training and support, apply for external grants for more ‘community 
based’ projects, e.g. on community development and cohesion.  
The table on the following page gives an indication of the types of 

58



43 

grants that could be considered by HFTRA and their members for 
possible bids.  
Initially we would recommend relatively modest bids for discrete, easy 
to manage projects: this should allow the Federation to develop a 
track record for successful delivery that will open up the possibility of 
larger, more ambitious bids in the future. 
 

Awards for All England 
Website: www.awardsforall.org.uk 

Grants £500 - £5,000 

For small, non-profit community groups. 
Funds projects to involve people in their 
community through sports, arts, social, 
environmental & other community activities 

Reaching Communities 
Website: www.biglotteryfund.org.uk 

Voluntary groups can apply. Theme:  
building strong communities with active 
citizens working together to tackle their 
problems. 

Community Foundation Network 
www.communityfoundations.org.uk 

Open to local voluntary groups.  Small 
grants for projects promoting community & 
voluntary sector activity. 

Garfield Weston Foundation 
www.garfieldweston.org 
Typically, grants to around £25,000 

Wide range of grants for community, 
sports, environment, etc. Grants to  
community groups have included funding 
for community halls.   

Connecting Communities Plus 
Website: www.cdf.org.uk 
Grants £6,000 - £12,000 

Supports projects to increase race equality 
& improve community cohesion. For locally 
run voluntary and community organisations 
with an income of less than £50,000 / year. 

North West London Community 
Foundation 
Nwlcommunityfoundation.org.uk 

Themes including community development, 
bringing communities together, social 
exclusion & isolation, disadvantaged young 
people.  

Gannett Foundation Fund 
harrowtimes.co.uk/gannettfoundation 

Organisations applying would need 
charitable status. Grants to £5,000 for local 
community issues. 

 

Table 4: some possible funding sources for projects 

59



44 

The Federation would not need to convert to a company to access 
any of the grants listed overleaf, although the protection of limited 
liability for officers and the extra governance and reporting 
requirements imposed by the Companies Act might mean this option 
would suit an ambitious Federation at some stage in the future. 
We think there are several advantages to bids for grant funding. This 
money does not come from the Housing Revenue Account, so 
tenants and leaseholders do not pay directly for the extra work that 
the Federation plans to develop.  
 
This may be particularly important for “housing plus” or 
neighbourhood projects that would benefit everyone in the 
community, not just tenants and leaseholders. In addition, the 
discipline of competitive bidding means the Federation would need to 
be very clear how it would deliver the work and be able to convince a 
funder that the project really is viable.    
Funding bids should not replace existing resources for tenant 
involvement, but they could provide extra funds to allow them to 
develop new areas of work. By building up its experience of bidding, 
the Federation could also act as a source of advice and assistance to 
individual TRAs looking to develop more local bids for their own 
individual neighbourhoods.  
Our recommendations on finance for resident involvement are: 
• HFTRA, with the help of tenant participation staff, to carry out a 

Value for Money review of their work to identify areas where 
existing resources can be used more effectively. (Alternatively, 
specialist staff elsewhere in the Council might be able to do this 
work. There is a risk that any savings could be transferred to other 
areas of housing work rather than reinvested in resident 
participation).  

• HFTRA makes contact with bid staff in Harrow Council and 
considers training on grants and bid writing. It would also be 
sensible to consider project management training for all but the 
smallest projects. 

• HFTRA and larger TRAs develop a greater concern for Best Value 
in the use of their resources (both financial and human, e.g. 
making the best use of their activists’ time and knowledge). 

60



45 

 

7. COMMUNICATIONS 
Communications between senior housing staff, the Portfolio Holder 
and HFTRA officers seem to us to be generally good. We have been 
pleasantly surprised by the amount of time that senior managers and 
key councillors have devoted to resident involvement in general, and 
especially their frequent meetings with HFTRA officers. 
We have already noted the lack of contact between a few TRAs and 
the HFTRA, and made some recommendations to address this 
problem. Otherwise, HFTRA does seem to provide a good setting for 
TRA representatives to share information and ideas. 
We have also discussed ways to make the TLCF more effective by 
allowing fuller debate at its meetings. Again, we believe that TLCF is 
a suitable forum for consultation on policy and strategy. 
We are aware that many TRA officers consider service delivery 
problems are of greater importance to their members than housing 
strategy issues. Two TRA Chairs told us that “big money items [i.e. 
programmes costing millions of pounds] should be left to the officers”, 
explaining that their residents were more concerned with individual 
problems like disrepair that affected their own homes and streets. We 
think this view is completely wrong. Well-constructed policies and 
programmes that are implemented properly should reduce problems 
for tenants at the delivery stage, so TRAs need to be involved in 
major policy decisions.  
 We feel communications are generally good at senior levels, e.g. 
between HFTRA officers and senior housing managers. However, the 
flow communication does not seem to be as good at lower levels. 
TRA officers often complained to us about poor communications with 
the call centre and with contractors. For example, one TRA Chair 
recounted her anger that Decent Homes work had started on her 
estate without the TRA knowing it had started, and without any idea 
who to contact with residents’ queries and problems. It remains to be 
seen whether the appointment of the Kier Group will improve 
communication between contractors and associations, which we are 
told has been very frustrating for both TRA officers and for the 
residents they represent.  
In addition, several TRA officers have told us about local issues 

61



46 

(generally relatively minor disrepair and maintenance problems) 
which have not been resolved despite the TRA reporting them some 
months ago. HFTRA has recently tried to capture these outstanding 
problems at its general meetings. 
Because of these concerns, HFTRA officers have recently requested 
regular meetings with service managers in areas such as repairs and 
maintenance, to address members’ issues around service delivery.  
We think this is a very sensible suggestion. We suggest the council 
staff at these meetings should be the managers with daily operational 
responsibility for the individual services, rather than more senior 
managers who normally attend TLCF meetings. 
The Council’s main methods of communicating with all tenants on 
general housing management issues are “Homing In” (the tenants’ 
newsletter) and STATUS and other surveys.  
“Homing In” regularly carries articles on tenant participation (e.g. an 
article on Pinner Hill TRA in issue 39, and a more general article 
entitled “What is a TRA?” in the previous issue). Some TRA Chairs 
have suggested that it would be a good idea to include more news 
from the TRAs. While we think that there is  already a reasonable 
coverage of tenant participation issues in the newsletter, given all the 
other material that needs to be covered, we think it would be useful to 
advertise upcoming TRA meetings and other events in Homing In, 
and to give contact details if the TRA agrees to this. 
Our impression is that Harrow Council does take the results of its 
resident surveys very seriously and we were pleased to see it 
discussing the implications with HFTRA officers. Our only suggestion 
in this area is that surveys tend to produce quantitative rather than 
qualitative information, so it might be useful to carry out some further 
feedback to explore the reasons behind the results. The recent 
Housing Strategy Conference was very successful, but we did notice 
that most of the tenants and leaseholders who were invited were TRA 
officers. A more general Tenants Conference once a year, open to all 
tenants, might provide an additional chance to explore housing issues 
with a wider range of tenants. 
HFTRA has recently set up its own website, which we see as an 
excellent development. We suggest this should be developed not just 
as a way of giving residents the latest information on the Federation’s 
work and local housing issues, but also as an interactive method to 

62



47 

collect views, issues and ideas from tenants and leaseholders across 
the borough.  
Our main recommendations for better communication with tenants 
and leaseholders include:    
• As noted, consideration to holding an annual Tenants Conference 

for all members, not just strategy stakeholders. 
• “Homing In” and other Council information to promote local TRA 

activities more strongly.     
• The Federation should consider making its website more 

interactive, e.g. possibly an online forum for tenants and 
leaseholders to discuss issues and keep in touch with their 
residents’ representatives. 

• TRAs should be encouraged to develop their own websites (at the 
moment only two TRAs have a web presence), drawing on the 
expertise of HFTRA officers, or having their own page for 
announcements on the Federation website 

• Telephone text (SMS or Short Message Service) messages can 
be a good way of getting important information (e.g. reminders on 
meetings and consultation events) out to residents. 

• TRAs should consider raising their local profile with more outreach 
work (e.g. social events, tabletops, drop-ins, etc) 

• TRAs and HFTRA should share information on their activities with 
other community groups in their area (e.g. including them on 
mailing lists, sending invitations to meetings and events, etc) as 
well as residents. 

 
 

 

8. OPTIONS FOR THE FUTURE 
At the end of June FIRST Call began a boroughwide Pre-Feasibility 
Study into the Right To Manage. This work will test the level of 
support among tenants for Tenant Management Organisations 
(TMOs) in Harrow either at estate level or across the whole borough. 
This survey will continue throughout the summer, with our staff 

63



48 

visiting all council homes across the whole of Harrow. We will present 
our findings and recommendations at the end of this work. 
If there is sufficient support to take the proposal further, additional 
development work and consultation will be needed before residents 
are asked to make a final decision whether to set up a TMO. If there 
is insufficient support, there will be no point spending more central 
government funds on the proposal. 
A Tenant Management Organisation increases the potential for 
resident involvement at the top of the body. Residents who are 
running an estate-based TMO can reasonably expect to keep in 
touch with their neighbours’ concerns. But a boroughwide 
Organisation would only increase responsiveness if Board members 
are constantly kept informed of the issues that affect the remaining 
six thousand tenants and leaseholders they are serving.  
FIRST CALL is committed to offering all residents in Harrow the 
chance to continue the Right To Manage investigation to the second 
stage (the “Feasibility Stage”). However, we recognise that residents 
may not wish to pursue such an option. In either case, we are sure 
residents and the Council will continue to investigate options to 
extend tenant involvement.  Some suggestions are:  
 
Management Board: There could be places for residents on a new 
Harrow Housing Management Board. This would enable elected 
tenants and leaseholders to have direct input in the decision making 
process and procedures. Residents’ representatives could make 
decisions in partnership with elected councilors and senior housing 
staff. It could fulfill a highly valuable role, which would require serious 
commitment from residents’ representatives, the full support of 
residents in general, political support from the Council and training 
support. 
 
Policy Groups:  Harrow residents could help influence the 
development in housing policy in a new type of partnership, with 
policy groups covering a wide range of topics such as repairs, estate 
services, sheltered housing and staffing. It could be a developing tool 
as Harrow works for continual improvement and this group offers the 
chance to shape our policies. 
 
Informal/Ad Hoc Groups: For those who do not want to join a 

64



49 

Tenants’ and Residents’ Association but still want to have a say, 
there are less formal ways to be involved. Often people want a 
relatively “low commitment” channel to feed through their views or 
organise a community event, and ad hoc groups provide a way to 
represent such views informally.  There could be single issue groups, 
for instance on anti-social behaviour or contractor performance. 
 
Interest Groups: Councils like Harrow can sometimes find it difficult to 
talk to certain groups because of their lifestyles. Setting up interest 
groups could be an effective way of collecting their thoughts. For 
example, by using consultation events managed by local youth 
groups (e.g. using a running web site for a few weeks or months), 
with results fed to the Council, text messaging, stalls at major youth 
events, housing staff and TRAs could reach a whole new range of 
young people (and through them, their parents). Other support and 
consultation networks designed to match the preferred styles of 
engagement of communities could also be set up for Black and ethnic 
minority tenants, young parents and disabled people. 
 
Editorial Panel: "Your Home" goes out to all tenants in Harrow. The 
Council could set up roving Editorial Panels featuring representatives 
from all communities to take part, offer their views about what should 
be the key stories, researching them and ensuring they go to print. 
This method of involvement can be developed via media and 
presentation courses to interested parties. This way, the Council will 
be "on the pulse" about the issues, sources of pride and concerns 
about the local services being provided. It can be possible to plant 
and then grow a new level of involvement and engagement via the 
media. This could then of course encourage new levels of 
involvement across a whole range of areas. 
 
Other Methods:  Of course, Harrow should continue to develop input 
and feedback from existing structures, for example TRAs, Forums, 
HFTRA, etc. as well as sheltered housing surgeries, drop-in sessions, 
surveys and questionnaires, mystery shoppers and focus groups. 

65



66

This page is intentionally left blank



1 

Appendix 3 

DISCUSSION PAPER  

DEVELOPING AN ACTION PLAN 
Our report makes a large number of recommendations to improve resident 
involvement in Harrow. Their adoption will certainly involve some extra 
work for HFTRA, individual Tenant and Residents Associations and Council 
staff in the coming months.  
However, we believe it is essential to start strengthening participation in 
Harrow as quickly as possible.  We have set out a potential action plan 
below. We suggest it should be seen as a template for discussion, rather 
than a prescriptive document. Page numbers in brackets refer to the page 
in our report where we made the original recommendation.   
Any final action plan must be one that all the partners feel they can deliver. 
However, we have assumed that residents and other stakeholders will want 
to see initial progress made as quickly as possible, so we have included 
reasonably challenging deadlines that we feel should be achievable. 

- Ian Simpson, FIRST Call, August 2007  

 

What do we need to do? Who 
needs to 
deliver it? 

How quickly should it 
be delivered after 

adoption of this plan?   
HFTRA Committee members and 
officers to receive training, e.g. on 
governance, finance (page 15) 

HFTRA This training to be 
delivered within 3 
months.  

HFTRA to collect essential basic 
information from all TRAs (p 17) 
and ensure they are meeting their 
Compact duties (p 22) 

HFTRA, 
TRAs 

All info returned by 
TRAs within 6 weeks. 
All TRAs to comply 
with Compact 
requirements within 3 
months. 

Council and HFTRA to develop an 
induction and  training plan for 
Neighbourhood Representatives 
and promote this option (p 19) 

HFTRA, 
Council  

Plan to be developed 
within 2 months. 
Promotion to begin 
immediately after this. 

Regular meetings of HFTRA’s 
Way Forward Group (p 21) 

HFTRA Immediately. 

67



2 

 
What needs to be done? By who? How quickly?   

Plan to increase diversity and 
representativeness of HFTRA and 
individual TRAs (p 21) 

HFTRA Plan to be developed 
within 3 months.  

Diversity training for HFTRA 
members 

HFTRA Training for existing 
members within 3 
months. 

Contact TRAs that have not 
attended HFTRA meetings  and 
develop support plans where 
necessary (p 22) 

HFTRA; 
Council; 

TRAs 

Immediate contact. 
Plans agreed within 3 
months. 

Tenant and Leaseholder 
Consultative Forum to become 
more user-friendly (p 30) 

Council Immediately. 

Residents’ Empowerment Working 
Group to be abolished (p 31) 

Council Immediately 

HFTRA to engage effectively in 
consultation in areas previously 
covered by REWG (p 31) 

HFTRA Immediately 

Joint planning meetings on 
resident involvement (pp 34 & 41) 

Council; 
HFTRA 

Immediately 

Action plans and targets agreed 
with TRAs to strengthen 
participation (p 34; suggestions for 
action by TRAs on pp 36-39)  

HFTRA; 
Council; 

TRAs  

All plans to be agreed 
within 6 months 

Value for money review of HFTRA 
(p 45) 

HFTRA; 
Council 
support 

To be completed 
within 6 months  

 
 
 
 

68



C:\moderngov\Data\AgendaItemDocs\4\0\8\AI00039804\ProgressontheCommunityCentreReview0.doc 

  
Committee: 
 

Tenant and Leaseholders Consultative 
Forum 

Date: 
 

29 October 2007 

Subject: 
 

INFORMATION REPORT – Progress on the 
Community Centre Review 

Responsible Officer: 
 

Gwyneth Allen – Divisional Director Adult 
and Housing 

Portfolio Holder:    
 

Cllr Camilla Bath – Portfolio Holder for 
Housing 

Exempt: 
 

No 

Enclosures: 
 

 

 
 

Section 1 – Summary 
 
 
A review of the 10 community centres, that are part of the Housing Revenue 
Account asset base, was commenced in June 2006 and this report provides a 
progress report on that review. 
 
FOR INFORMATION 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Agenda Item 10
Pages 69 to 72

69



C:\moderngov\Data\AgendaItemDocs\4\0\8\AI00039804\ProgressontheCommunityCentreReview0.doc 

Section 2 – Report 
2.1 Update 
 
2.2 In June 2006 the housing service developed a project initiation document 

outlining plans to review community centres.  The purpose of the review is to 
document the current use of the community centres and make 
recommendations for changes, where possible, to ensure access by the local 
community. 

 
2.3 The review seeks to ensure that maximum benefit is made of all community 

premises, that equity of access is provided to the local community, particularly 
Tenant and Resident groups and that up to date management information is 
available for all community centres.  

 
2.4 It was initially envisaged that the review would be completed within six 

months.  The review started, base line data has been gathered and all 
centres have been visited. (This data is set out in Appendix 1)  

 
2.5 The housing service has become aware of development work taking place in 

other Council departments in relation to community premises and the 
charging and management structures for these buildings.  

 
2.6 The move toward more effective asset management by the Council provides 

the opportunity to ensure better access to HRA owned community centres 
and ensure that the Housing Service is consistent with access to other council 
owned buildings. 

 
2.7 The Housing Service intends to work with colleagues across the Council to 

ensure that the review incorporates corporate developments in relation to 
community buildings. 

 
2.8 The revised completion date for the review is March 2008. 
 
 
Section 3 – Further Information 
 
 
Section 4 - Contact Details and Background Papers 
 
 
Contact:  Carol Yarde – Service Development Manager, Housing     
Services 
 
 
Background Papers:   
 

70



A
pp

en
di

x 
1

Li
st

 o
f A

ss
et

s 
in

c 
O

A
P 

C
lu

bs
Li

st
 o

f K
ey

 H
ol

de
rs

Lo
ca

tio
n 

of
 S

to
ck

 
Pl

ay
 

Eq
ui

pm
en

t
Pl

ay
 

Sp
ac

es
C

on
di

tio
n 

of
 

St
oc

k 

Va
lu

e 
of

 
A

ss
et

s 
(D

is
co

un
te

d 
R

ep
la

ce
m

en
t 

C
os

t)
Va

lu
e 

of
 

A
ss

et
s 

C
ha

rg
in

g 
Va

lu
es

D
D

A
 

C
om

pl
ia

nc
e 

(R
ec

om
m

en
de

d 
W

or
ks

)

D
D

A
 

C
om

pl
ia

nc
e 

(D
is

ab
le

d 
To

ile
ts

)

D
D

A
 

C
om

pl
ia

nc
e 

(K
itc

he
n 

Eq
ui

pm
en

t)

D
D

A
 

C
om

pl
ia

nc
e 

(F
ur

ni
tu

re
)

Se
cu

rit
y 

Is
su

es
 

(In
tr

ud
er

 
A

la
rm

s)

Se
cu

rit
y 

Is
su

es
 

(F
ire

 
A

la
rm

s)

Se
cu

rit
y 

Is
su

es
 

(C
C

TV
)

Se
cu

rit
y 

Is
su

es
 

(L
ig

ht
in

g.
)

Se
cu

rit
y 

Is
su

es
 

(P
ub

lic
Te

le
.)

Se
cu

rit
y 

Is
su

es
 

(E
m

er
ge

nc
y 

Li
gh

ts
)

C
ap

ac
ity

 o
f 

C
om

m
un

ity
 

H
al

ls

H
ea

ds
to

ne
 H

al
l

C
ar

et
ak

er
s,

 M
rs

 C
oo

k
A

ug
us

tin
e 

R
oa

d,
 

W
ea

ld
st

on
e

N
on

e
N

on
e

Fa
ir

41
2,

75
0

W
or

ks
 

co
m

m
en

ci
ng

 
sh

or
tly

N
o

N
o

N
o

N
o

Y
es

N
o

N
o

N
on

e
Y

es
U

nk
no

w
n

B
ed

e 
A

na
nd

ap
pa

 H
al

l
C

ar
et

ak
er

s,
 J

oy
 

A
na

nd
ap

pa
B

in
yo

n 
C

re
sc

en
t, 

S
ta

nm
or

e
Ta

bl
e 

te
nn

is
N

on
e

G
oo

d
25

2,
50

0
W

or
ks

 
co

m
m

en
ci

ng
 

sh
or

tly
N

o
N

o
N

o
N

o
Y

es
N

o
N

o
W

or
ki

ng
Y

es
60

B
ro

ok
si

de
 C

lo
se

 C
om

m
un

ity
 C

en
tre

C
ar

et
ak

er
s,

 H
am

is
h 

R
ai

t
B

ro
ok

si
de

 C
lo

se
, 

S
ou

th
 H

ar
ro

w
N

on
e

N
on

e
G

oo
d

33
7,

00
0

C
om

pl
ia

nt
Y

es
N

o
N

o
N

o
Y

es
N

o
N

o
W

or
ki

ng
Y

es
60

C
hu

rc
hi

ll 
P

la
ce

 C
om

m
un

ity
 H

al
l

C
ar

et
ak

er
s,

 N
ur

se
ry

B
ar

on
s 

M
ea

d,
 

H
ar

ro
w

N
on

e
N

on
e

G
oo

d
50

3,
25

0
C

om
pl

ia
nt

Y
es

N
o

N
o

N
o

Y
es

N
o

N
o

W
or

ki
ng

Y
es

10
0

K
en

m
or

e 
P

ar
k 

C
om

m
un

ity
 C

en
tre

C
ar

et
ak

er
s,

 S
ue

 M
cM

ill
an

W
ar

ne
fo

rd
 R

oa
d,

 
K

en
to

n
N

on
e

R
ea

r 
G

ar
de

n
G

oo
d

1,
46

7,
50

0
C

om
pl

ia
nt

Y
es

N
o

N
o

N
o

Y
es

N
o

N
o

N
ot

 W
or

ki
ng

Y
es

10
0

M
ar

sh
 R

oa
d 

C
om

m
un

ity
 H

al
l

C
ar

et
ak

er
s

M
ar

sh
 R

oa
d,

 P
in

ne
r

N
on

e
N

on
e

G
oo

d
17

7,
25

0
C

om
pl

ia
nt

N
o

N
o

N
o

N
o

Y
es

N
o

N
o

N
on

e
Y

es
30

N
or

th
ol

t R
oa

d 
H

al
l

C
ar

et
ak

er
s,

 N
ur

se
ry

N
or

th
ol

t R
oa

d,
 

S
ou

th
 H

ar
ro

w
N

on
e

R
ea

r 
G

ar
de

n 
fo

r 
N

ur
se

ry
G

oo
d

88
9,

75
0

C
om

pl
ia

nt
Y

es
N

o
N

o
N

o
Y

es
N

o
N

o
N

ot
 W

or
ki

ng
Y

es
10

0

P
in

ne
r H

ill
 R

oa
d 

H
al

l
C

ar
et

ak
er

s,
 D

ic
k 

P
ric

e
P

in
ne

r H
ill

 R
oa

d,
 

P
in

ne
r. 

N
on

e
P

av
ed

 
A

re
a

G
oo

d
65

1,
75

0
W

or
ks

 
co

m
m

en
ci

ng
 

sh
or

tly
Y

es
N

o
N

o
N

o
Y

es
N

o
N

o
W

or
ki

ng
Y

es
10

0

S
to

ne
gr

ov
e 

G
ar

de
ns

 H
al

l
C

ar
et

ak
er

s,
 N

ur
se

ry
S

to
ne

gr
ov

e 
G

ar
de

ns
, E

dg
w

ar
e

N
on

e
D

ec
ke

d 
ar

ea
 fo

r 
N

ur
se

ry
G

oo
d

50
0,

75
0

C
om

pl
ia

nt
Y

es
N

o
N

o
N

o
Y

es
N

o
N

o
W

or
ki

ng
Y

es
50

M
et

hu
en

 R
oa

d 
H

al
l

Te
rr

y 
R

ev
ill

M
et

hu
en

 R
oa

d 
S

ta
nm

or
e

N
on

e
R

ea
r 

fo
ot

ba
ll 

ar
ea

G
oo

d
13

,0
00

,5
00

C
om

pl
ia

nt
Y

es
N

o
N

o
Y

es
Y

es
N

o
N

o
W

or
ki

ng
Y

es
15

0

71



72

This page is intentionally left blank



C:\moderngov\Data\AgendaItemDocs\3\9\4\AI00040493\LondonCouncilsHousingGreenPaper0.doc 

  
Committee: 
 

Tenant and Leaseholder Consultative 
Forum 
 

Date: 
 

29 October 2007 

Subject: 
 

INFORMATION REPORT – London 
Councils – Housing Green Paper 
 

Responsible Officer: 
 

Gwyneth Allen 
Divisional Director Adults and Housing 
Services 
 

Portfolio Holder: 
 

Cllr Camilla Bath 
Portfolio Holder Housing 
 

Exempt: 
 

No 

Enclosures: 
 

 

 
 

Section 1 – Summary 
 
 
• Communities and Local Government’s Housing Green Paper, ‘Homes for the 

future: more affordable, more sustainable’ was published on 23 July 2007. 
 
• Harrow will Submit a response as part of the West London Local Authorities 

Group 
 
 
FOR INFORMATION 
 
 
 
 

Agenda Item 11
Pages 73 to 76

73



C:\moderngov\Data\AgendaItemDocs\3\9\4\AI00040493\LondonCouncilsHousingGreenPaper0.doc 

 
 
Section 2 – Report 
 
2.1 Communities and Local Government’s Housing Green Paper, ‘Homes for the 

future: more affordable, more sustainable’ was published on 23 July 2007. 
The briefing paper, which has been produced by London Councils, is 
attached as appendix 1. 

 
2.2 The deadline for responses to Communities and Local Government is 15 

October 2007.  The Council will be making comments as part of the West 
London Partnership, which comprises Brent, Ealing, Hammersmith & Fulham, 
Hillingdon, Hounslow, Kensington & Chelsea & Harrow.   

 
2.3 London Councils will work with London’s 33 councils to produce a London-
wide response to the Housing Green Paper. 
 
2.3 The key issues within the Green Paper for London are: 

• More and better homes 
• Funding 
• Strengthening the local authority strategic housing role 
• Planning 

 
 
 
Section 3 – Further Information 
 
Full details can be found on Housing Green Paper, ‘Homes for the future: more 
affordable, more sustainable’ at londoncouncils.gov.uk 
 
Section 4 - Contact Details and Background Papers 
 
 
For further information please contact: Carol Yarde – Service Development 
Manager 020 8420 9660 carol.yarde@harrow.gov.uk 
  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

74



C:\moderngov\Data\AgendaItemDocs\3\9\4\AI00040493\LondonCouncilsHousingGreenPaper0.doc 

  
 

75



76

This page is intentionally left blank



C:\moderngov\Data\AgendaItemDocs\4\9\4\AI00040494\1stDraftMayorsHousingStrategy0.doc 

  
Committee: 
 

Tenant and Leaseholder Consultative 
Forum 
 

Date: 
 

29 October 2007 

Subject: 
 

INFORMATION REPORT  - The Draft 
Mayor’s Housing Strategy 
 

Responsible Officer: 
 

Gwyneth Allen 
Divisional Director Adults and Housing 
Services 
 

Portfolio Holder: 
 

Cllr Camilla Bath 
Portfolio Holder Housing 
 

Exempt: 
 

No 

Enclosures: 
 

 

 
 

Section 1 – Summary 
 
 
The first draft Mayor’s Housing Strategy has been produced following the 
devolution of responsibility for the housing strategy and the broad 
direction of public housing investment in London from Whitehall to the 
Mayor (subject to parliamentary approval of the GLA Bill) The Strategy is subject 
to consultation. 
 
 
 
 
FOR INFORMATION 
 
 

Agenda Item 12
Pages 77 to 94

77



C:\moderngov\Data\AgendaItemDocs\4\9\4\AI00040494\1stDraftMayorsHousingStrategy0.doc 

 
Section 2 – Report 
 
 
2.1 The first draft Mayor’s Housing Strategy has been produced following 

devolution of responsibility for the housing strategy and the broad direction of 
public housing investment in London from Whitehall to the Mayor (subject to 
parliamentary approval of the GLA Bill). 

 
2.2 Following consultation on the Mayors strategy this will become statutory in 

2008. It comprises: 
 
• Policies to increase housing supply to better meet Londoners’ needs 
  and improve the quality of London’s homes 
 
• A Strategic Housing Investment Plan, setting out the objectives and 
  priorities for public investment in housing for 2008 – 2011 
 
• A delivery plan. 

 
2.3 The housing strategy will help to deliver the overarching Mayor’s London 

Plan and is closely aligned to the Mayor’s other strategies, including 
economic development, transport, energy and climate change. The executive 
summary is attached as an Appendix 1. 
 
2.4 The draft Mayor’s Housing Strategy is divided into six main chapters; 

1. Increasing Supply; 
2. Improving Quality; 
3. Changing Lives; 
4. Implementing the Strategy; 
5. Strategic Housing Investment Plan; 
6. Non Financial delivery Plan.  

 
2.4 The Mayor’s intention is to have a three-month statutory consultation 
period once the GLA bill has received royal assent.  The executive summary 
is attached as an Appendix  

 
Section 3 – Further Information 
 
 Full details of the Strategy can be found on www.london.gov.uk 
 
Section 4 - Contact Details and Background Papers 
 
Carol Yarde – Service Development Manager 020 8420 9660 
carol.yarde@nharrow.gov.uk 
 
 

78



September 2007

The Draft Mayor’s Housing Strategy

Executive Summary

79



Greater London Authority
September 2007

Published by
Greater London Authority
City Hall, The Queen’s Walk, More London
London SE1 2AA

Enquiries 020 7983 4100
Minicom 020 7983 4458

www.london.gov.uk

ISBN:  978 1 84781 070 0

Cover photo © Belinda Lawley

The Mayor’s Draft Housing Strategy was published by the 
Greater London Authority in September 2007. 
Copies are available from the GLA (details above), or it can be
downloaded from the GLA website at www.london.gov.uk.

This document is printed on 75 per cent recycled paper, 

25 per cent from sustainable forest management80



1 The first draft Mayor’s Housing Strategy has been produced following the

devolution of responsibility for the housing strategy and the broad

direction of public housing investment in London from Whitehall to the

Mayor (subject to parliamentary approval of the GLA Bill). 

2 Following consultation this strategy will become statutory in 2008. 

It comprises:

• policies to increase housing supply to better meet Londoners’ needs

and improve the quality of London’s homes 

• a Strategic Housing Investment Plan, setting out the objectives and

priorities for public investment in housing for 2008 - 2011

• a delivery plan. 

3 The housing strategy will help to deliver the overarching Mayor’s London
Plan and is closely aligned to the Mayor’s other strategies, including

economic development, transport, energy and climate change. 

Common purpose

4 London is growing faster than any other European city – with around a

million additional households projected over the next twenty years.

Together with a buoyant economy, this has compounded the problems

caused by decades of inadequate supply of new homes for both sale and

rent. Affordability is a major problem for many Londoners, with even

those on reasonable incomes increasingly priced out of home ownership

while many more low income households struggle to find suitable homes

for rent. The shortage of affordable housing is most acutely reflected in

the number of homeless households in temporary accommodation in

London (just under 60,000) – two thirds of England’s total. 

5 London faces multiple housing challenges. More homes are needed in all

tenures, especially for affordable rent, where new family housing is in

particularly short supply. Special help is needed for key workers and

others who wish to buy. There is an urgent need to improve the

environmental performance of London’s homes, both to tackle the threat

of climate change and to address fuel poverty.

6 The strategy is a product of an extensive dialogue between the GLA, the

boroughs, public investment agencies, and private, voluntary and

community bodies - a partnership that will continue around a common set

of objectives that addresses these challenges. By tailoring solutions to

London’s specific requirements, the collective investment, expertise and

energy available across all sectors will be more clearly focused on meeting

Londoners’ housing needs and aspirations.

The Draft Mayor’s Housing Strategy Executive Summary Mayor of London 3

81



The Mayor’s vision

7 The Mayor’s vision for housing – and his wider vision for London as set

out in the London Plan - is based on three interwoven themes:

• Strong, diverse long term economic growth; in housing to produce 

more homes and particularly more affordable homes in successful 

neighbourhoods.

• Fundamental improvements in London’s environment and use of

resources; in housing to improve the quality of design and reduce the

impact of housing on climate change.

• Social inclusivity to give all Londoners the opportunity to share in 

London’s future success; in housing to tackle extreme housing need,

improve choice and mobility, tackle worklessness, and involve residents

in better management of homes and neighbourhoods.

The Mayor’s vision for housing in London 

The Mayor will work with government, the boroughs, public and private

investors, housing agencies, and community and voluntary organisations

to improve the housing opportunities available to Londoners.

More homes, more family homes, more affordable homes: 
We will drive up the supply of homes across all tenures, to ensure London

remains a prosperous and successful city. We will maximise London’s

capacity to accommodate its growth within its boundaries, without

encroaching on open space, tackling the barriers to development to

provide more homes in all areas of London. We will increase the supply of

family homes and affordable homes and give Londoners on low and

moderate incomes more opportunity to share in the capital’s growing

prosperity.

Better design, greener homes, renewed homes, estates and areas: 
We will raise standards for new homes and reduce the environmental

impact of existing homes to make London an exemplary world city in

mitigating and adapting to climate change. We will regenerate our poorer

estates and communities and work towards a new Decent Environment

standard for all existing homes. We will put design at the heart of housing

to shape a more attractive, well designed city, to make London a healthier

and better city for people to live in and to improve accessibility for all. 

More choice and opportunity, less homelessness and overcrowding, more
sustainable communities: 
We will meet the challenges of extreme housing need, especially

homelessness and overcrowding. We will embrace the diversity of London’s

communities and reflect this in meeting London’s housing needs and

aspirations. We will improve housing mobility and tenure choice. We will

The Draft Mayor’s Housing Strategy Executive Summary4 Mayor of London

82



The Draft Mayor’s Housing Strategy Executive Summary Mayor of London 5

tackle work disincentives for tenants and those on high rents, such as

people in temporary accommodation. We will create communities that are

strong, inclusive, safe and sustainable and supported by excellent social,

physical and economic infrastructure. We will help to empower residents

and support high quality management of estates and neighbourhoods. We

will ensure that the delivery of housing in London promotes social inclusion

and tackles deprivation and discrimination. 

Increasing supply

8 The pace of home building has increased in recent years, and in 2005/06

more than 28,000 homes were completed, comfortably exceeding the

initial targets set in the Mayor’s London Plan, even though these had

been considered over ambitious by some when they were set in 2004. But

far more needs to be done, especially to accelerate the building of new

homes for social rent, which has failed to keep up with the welcome

increases in the market sector. There are some grounds for optimism:

planning approvals are at a record level, government funding for

affordable homes has risen dramatically and London has a huge capacity

for many more homes to be built on brownfield land. 

9 The Mayor’s London Plan has set a new target for at least 30,500

additional homes to be provided each year to 2016. Of these, 50 per cent

should be affordable (split 70:30 between social rented and intermediate

homes). This strategy and Strategic Housing Investment Plan will increase

the output of new affordable housing by 50 per cent, resulting in more

than 50,000 new affordable homes being delivered between 2008 – 2011.

10 Targets have been set for each London borough based on careful

assessment of capacity. These will form the basis for future investment.

The Mayor will use his powers to ensure that all boroughs contribute fairly

to meeting London’s need for new homes in accordance with their London
Plan targets, which are both realistic and achievable. 

11 The Mayor wants to see empty homes making up less than 2.5 per cent

of the total stock, maximising the occupancy of available homes while

ensuring sufficient space to maintain market turnover.

12 The strategy will enable more family homes to be built, especially in the

affordable sector where the need is greatest and where new supply has

been limited in recent years. It sets a new target that 42 per cent of new

social rented homes and, by 2010/11, 16 per cent of new intermediate

homes, should have three bedrooms or more.

83



The Draft Mayor’s Housing Strategy Executive Summary6 Mayor of London

The Mayor will

• seek to increase the overall supply of new homes, in particular new

affordable housing, enabling the delivery of over 50,000 new affordable

homes over the three years from 2008 – 2011 and almost doubling the

supply of new social rented homes compared to 2003/04 and 2005/06

• boost the supply of homes with three or more bedrooms in the

affordable sector

• ensure that more homes are built in each of London’s sub regions in

accordance with the spatial distribution set by the London Plan

• ensure appropriate supply of new supported housing and the provision

of specialist forms of housing to meet specific needs

• align the housing and infrastructure investment programmes of public

housing and regeneration agencies and prioritise key strategic sites

13 London does have the capacity to deliver the homes it needs, with the

pipeline of planning permissions at an all time high. A large number of

these proposed new homes are on big strategic developments that will

take time to build out, with many of them in the priority areas identified

in the London Plan, such as the Thames Gateway, where two thirds of the

capacity for homes is on land in public sector ownership.

14 However, there are many barriers to achieving a faster rate of building in

London. Planning is often slow and complex, land supply is poorly

organised and prone to speculation, and there is insufficient innovation in

the delivery of major development projects – both in terms of finance and

construction. This strategy sets out to address these difficulties to

encourage more sustainable home building.

The Mayor will

• encourage new forms of private investment and development to

provide more homes for sale and for private rent

• improve public influence over development outcomes through

innovative and collaborative use of public and private resources

• intervene to speed up land assembly and make more effective use of

land already in public ownership 

• encourage housing associations to take a lead role in development

• support councils and arms length management organisations wishing

to build new homes 

• promote a more consistent London wide approach to planning gain to

achieve his housing and social objectives

15 In addition to boosting supply, the Mayor will take other steps to improve

housing affordability, focussing on helping people on modest incomes to

access suitable home ownership opportunities. 

84



The Draft Mayor’s Housing Strategy Executive Summary Mayor of London 7

The Mayor will

• increase the number of low cost home ownership opportunities,

especially for families

• set new priorities for intermediate housing, targeting it more closely as 

a route to home ownership for existing social tenants, key public 

service workers and others on moderate incomes

• simplify access to intermediate housing products and introduce new

products along the lines of the popular Do It Yourself Shared Ownership 

• encourage provision of additional homes for intermediate rent 

• review the impact of social housing rent restructuring, seeking to 

improve affordability but also to encourage investment

The private rented sector

16 The private rented sector is enjoying a renaissance in London, with the

market responding to the declining affordability of home ownership and

inadequate supply in the social sector. Investors, rather than primary

occupiers, now purchase two thirds of new homes in London. London needs

a large and easily accessible private rented market, but the sector could

offer a more professional and responsible service to its consumers. Despite

many improvements, too many landlords still provide poor value for money,

inadequate maintenance and bad management. Management problems

have also emerged with absentee landlords of former Right to Buy

properties and on new mixed tenure estates with fragmented ownership. 

17 It is difficult for tenants with little security of tenure to act as effective

consumers and they need support through statutory intervention.

Boroughs have new powers, through the Housing Health and Safety

Rating system and the licensing of houses in multiple occupation, which

must be implemented effectively and comprehensively. 

18 Market rent levels have moderated in recent years but are still a

disincentive for people on benefit to work.

The Mayor will

• work with landlord and tenant organisations to help modernise the

sector, including accreditation and tenancy sustainment schemes and

rolling out the Green Homes programme 

• support innovative approaches to using housing benefit spending to

create more settled homes and social assets

• expect comprehensive use of boroughs’ new powers to deliver and

sustain improvements in private rented homes to be a central feature

of borough housing strategies

• encourage institutional investment in the private rented sector 

and work to minimise the problems of fragmented ownership in 

new developments

85



The Draft Mayor’s Housing Strategy Executive Summary8 Mayor of London

Improving quality

19 Increasing supply must be matched by high quality design and

construction. There is now a great opportunity to fashion new sustainable

neighbourhoods and regenerate existing ones. Homes must be spacious,

adaptable and designed to support the diversity of Londoners’ needs and

lifestyles. Neighbourhoods should provide attractive, desirable and

healthy environments for people to live in.

20 Thirty eight per cent of London’s carbon emissions come from homes and

the Mayor wants to see emissions from housing decrease by 30 per cent

by 2025. This is a major challenge, and one that can only be achieved by

both maximising the environmental performance of new homes and

improving that of the existing stock.

21 The Decent Homes programme has transformed the condition of social

housing, but it was devised before climate change emerged as the policy

priority it is today. Some estates need radical improvements or

comprehensive regeneration and this can provide opportunities to address

climate change as well as sustainable community renewal. Estate renewal

projects should make the most of opportunities to add to the stock and

to diversify tenures and housing types, but should avoid a net loss of

affordable housing.

The Mayor will 

• respond to the challenge of climate change in the delivery and 

standards of new homes 

• drive up the quality of new homes, neighbourhoods and the associated

public realm – making places that people want to live in 

• continue to support and promote the design principles associated with 

the compact city and the London Plan. Design for London will produce

a Housing Design Guide to help meet modern requirements for living

in London, clarify expectations, and achieve Lifetime Homes standards 

• support a mix of tenures in new developments and regeneration to

help create more sustainable communities 

• fund only those schemes that as a minimum comply with government

Code for Sustainable Homes targets and prioritise funding to those

going further

• establish a new Innovation and Opportunity Fund to support projects 

that deliver exemplary environmental design standards earlier than the 

target dates

• encourage social landlords to address the challenges of climate change

through sustainable procurement and asset management strategies

86



The Draft Mayor’s Housing Strategy Executive Summary Mayor of London 9

• develop and support programmes to help private owners green their 

homes, for example through his insulation programme in partnership 

with British Gas and the comprehensive Green Homes programme

• produce a strategy to help Londoners adapt their homes to changes in 

climate that are already inevitable, including hotter summers and more 

volatile weather 

• support a new Decent Environment standard, to be introduced when 

the current Decent Homes programme ends in 2010 and to be 

achieved by 2016 

• provide funds to help achieve the target reduction in the number of 

vulnerable households living in non-decent private sector homes, 

ensuring no household occupies a home with a SAP rating of less than 

40 by 2016

• support initiatives such as equity release to encourage private owners 

to undertake improvements and to green their homes

• work with boroughs and agencies to develop a consistent approach to 

comprehensive estate renewal with more mixed communities – 

although not at the expense of affordable housing

Equalities and diversity

22 London’s diversity is essential to its prosperity and dynamism. But the city

is also divided between extremes of wealth and poverty, and poor housing

hits the Mayor’s equality target groups disproportionately hard. Minority

communities often suffer the poorest housing conditions and are far more

likely to become homeless. Social housing shortages fail homeless

families, and can generate wider perceptions of increasing competition for

housing, which can undermine social cohesion and can be exploited to

feed racism and discrimination.

23 Tackling London’s pressing housing problems, and particularly shortage, is

in the interests of all Londoners. The strategy will also help overcome

disadvantage faced by some groups in the housing market.

Equality target groups will benefit from policies designed to

• increase affordable and particularly accessible housing supply to meet

the needs of homeless and badly housed households 

• boost the supply of family homes to meet the needs of larger families

• sponsor comprehensive neighbourhood regeneration in the areas of 

greatest deprivation

• promote community cohesion and encourage mobility and choice 

through policies such as choice based lettings 

87



The Draft Mayor’s Housing Strategy Executive Summary10 Mayor of London

Changing lives

24 Homelessness is the most extreme manifestation of housing shortage.

Just under 60,000 households live in temporary accommodation and

many more live in hostels. A small, but unacceptable, number sleep rough.

Focused policies and programmes have been successful in tackling some

of the worst features of homelessness, especially the use of bed and

breakfast hotels for families. The Mayor supports the government’s

targets to halve the use of temporary accommodation for all and to end

the use of bed and breakfast for 16 and 17 year olds by 2010.

The Mayor will

• expect borough homelessness strategies to clearly demonstrate how 

the targets will be achieved and how the number of rough sleepers 

and people waiting for move on accommodation will also be reduced 

• expect borough homelessness strategies to focus on prevention

wherever possible but not to seek to achieve government targets

through stricter gatekeeping 

• expect boroughs to make greater use of private rented homes to

discharge their homelessness duties but only if the homes are on a

long tenancy from an accredited landlord 

• support ‘temporary to settled’ schemes where they provide more

settled homes, more affordable rents and social assets

• expect boroughs to sign up to cross-London protocols such as 

NOTIFY to improve the response to homeless people who move across

borough boundaries 

25 One disturbing dimension of London’s growing housing shortage, and

especially the failure to build sufficient affordable family homes, has been

the recent rise in overcrowding. Social housing has been badly affected but

the problem is also serious, and growing rapidly, in the private rented sector. 

The Mayor will

• expect borough housing strategies to have clear policies to tackle

overcrowding, aiming to stem its growth in social housing by 2012 

• expect social landlords to have strategies in place to provide more

family accommodation, for example through extensions and 

deconversions, and to reduce overcrowding among their tenants 

26 Together with partners, the Mayor has reviewed the need for additional

supported housing in London and has found a significant shortage. There

is also a lack of alignment of capital and revenue funding for supported

housing schemes and the urgent need to improve current arrangements. 

88



The Draft Mayor’s Housing Strategy Executive Summary Mayor of London 11

The Mayor will

• seek to increase the supply of additional supported housing to 400

homes a year

• work with boroughs to ensure that revenue funding is available to

support this programme 

27 Housing options are becoming more complex as the geography of

housing supply changes and the range of housing products becomes more

diverse. People need more help to understand the options that may be

available to them, for example to move across London or to move out of

London if that is their wish. 

The Mayor will

• expect borough housing strategies to ensure that impartial housing

advice and housing options services are available, especially for

vulnerable people

• give high priority to promoting choice and mobility across and beyond

London, especially by developing Capital Moves as a single access point

for social and intermediate homes and, ultimately, selected private lets

• ensure the incorporation into Capital Moves of the London Accessible

Housing Register

• support an extension of the Seaside and Country Homes scheme to

help more older tenants in social housing who wish to move away 

from London

28 Building sustainable communities in London requires more than just decent

homes. Determined efforts to help more people into properly paid work are

especially important to address the systemic poverty that characterises

many neighbourhoods. Worklessness disproportionately affects social

tenants, homeless people and some equality target groups and is closely

linked with child poverty. 

29 Promoting community safety is critical to creating sustainable communities.

Although social housing management has improved greatly over the past

ten years, problems have emerged on some mixed tenure estates with

absentee landlords and fragmented management arrangements. Tenants

and residents should be able to influence the way in which their homes

and neighbourhoods are run. 

89



The Draft Mayor’s Housing Strategy Executive Summary12 Mayor of London

The Mayor will

• encourage social landlords to make improving the life chances of their 

tenants a core activity 

• support innovative projects that tackle homelessness and worklessness 

together and which seek to overcome barriers to paid work 

• expect all social landlords to reach excellent housing management

standards; to participate in neighbourhood management in multi-landlord

areas in order to improve efficiency and the integration of services; to be

exemplary in their engagement with tenants and residents; and to

encourage tenant management wherever this is the local preference

• encourage private landlords to also adopt the principles of good

management and tenant engagement, for example through

accreditation schemes

• deliver his Anti-Social Behaviour Strategy, support the government’s

Respect Action Plan, and expect all social landlords to meet the

standards set out in the Respect Standard for Housing Management 

• support effective measures to tackle domestic violence and encourage

boroughs to support victims and witnesses of crimes where

intimidation might be involved 

• expect boroughs to support the London Resettlement Strategy as an

important step towards reducing re-offending

Infrastructure

30 New housing should be well connected to transport, jobs, and local

services such as schools. The London Plan provides the framework for

both housing growth and infrastructure investment in London. 

The Mayor will

• expect sub regional investment plans to bring together all the key

infrastructure plans of the London agencies

• expect borough community strategies to take full account of 

proposed housing development and regeneration plans so that the full

range of physical, social and community infrastructure is put in place in

a timely way

• expect new development and major regeneration proposals to take full

account of issues such as energy consumption, water use, open space,

play space, waste, and flood and fire safety 

Delivery

31 The Mayor assumed the responsibilities of the London Housing Board in

2006. His new housing and planning powers are contained in the GLA

Bill currently before parliament. London boroughs should review and

revise their strategies to bring them into general conformity with this

housing strategy.

90



The Draft Mayor’s Housing Strategy Executive Summary Mayor of London 13

32 The Mayor has worked with public sector investors in London to better

align their investment programmes. The Strategic Housing Investment

Plan sets a broad framework within which each of these investors will use

their resources to contribute to the delivery of the strategy’s priorities. 

As this investment plan has been produced in advance of the 2007

Comprehensive Spending Review all the figures in the plan have been

based upon indicative advice from government on the likely level of

resources and are therefore provisional.  

33 The Mayor has established new structures for stakeholder consultation

and participation through the Mayor’s Housing Forum, Housing Equalities

Standing Group and his Housing Investment Panel.

34 The strategy also includes a non-financial delivery plan, which sets out

the projects and targets that will be pursued by the GLA and other

stakeholders to implement the Mayor’s Housing Strategy.

91



The Draft Mayor’s Housing Strategy Executive Summary14 Mayor of London

92



93



Other formats and languages
For a large print, Braille, disc, sign language video or audio-tape version 
of this document, please contact us at the address below:

Public Liaison Unit
Greater London Authority Telephone 020 7983 4100
City Hall Minicom 020 7983 4458
The Queen’s Walk www.london.gov.uk
London SE1 2AA

You will need to supply your name, your postal address and state the 
format and title of the publication you require.

If you would like a summary of this document in your language, please 
phone the number or contact us at the address above.

Chinese Hindi

Vietnamese Bengali

Greek Urdu

Turkish Arabic

Punjabi Gujarati

City Hall

The Queen’s Walk 

London SE1 2AA

www.london.gov.uk

Enquiries 020 7983 4100

Minicom 020 7983 4458 MoL/Sep07/MR D&P/MT/96094


	Agenda
	4 Minutes
	8 Quarter 1 Housing Revenue Account (HRA) Monitoring Report as at 30 June 2007
	9 Progress report on the work of the Independent Tenant Advisor and presentation of their report
	Progress Report TA - Appendix 1
	Progress report TA - Appendix 2 Final Report
	Progress report TA -Appendix 3 Action Plan

	10 Progress on the Community Centre Review
	Info community centres v2 attachment

	11 London Councils Œ Housing Green Paper
	12 The Draft Mayor™s Housing Strategy
	draft-housing-strat-sum-sept-07


